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PROCEEDI NGS

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Let's get on the
record. |I'mcalling case nunber 25610. Entries of
appear ance, please.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Good nor ni ng,
M. Exam ner Ben Holliday for the applicant,
Powder hor n.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Good nor ni ng.
Good afternoon, and wel cone.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yeah. Just --

MR. RANKIN. Adam Ranki n and ny
col | eague Paula Vance with the Santa Fe O fice of

Hol | and & Hart appearing on behalf of Marathon Ol

Per m an.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

Ms. Vance, were you pointing to
sonmeone?

MS5. VANCE: The case prior --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Are you before?

MR. RANKI N:  Yeabh.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Ckay.
Then | -- we will be in recess. WIIl, you guys were

sitting back there, and | didn't know you want --
okay. That makes sense. So let's go into recess on

25610. | don't have the case nunmber.
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Ms. Hardy, what is the case nunber |'m
calling? It's the Chevron case. Wat is it?

MS5. HARDY: [It's the Chevron case.

MR. DEBRI NE: 25878.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: 258787

MR. DEBRI NE:  Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

Entri es of appearance, please.

MR. DEBRI NE: Good nor ni ng,

M. Hearing Exam ner. Earl DeBrine with the Modral
Sperling firmon behalf of the applicant, Chevron USA,
I nc.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

MS. HARDY: And Dana Hardy w th Hardy
McLean on behal f of PBEX and EGL Resources.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

We are here basically to understand
what are the issues going to the hearing because at
the last time we got together, | had ruled that
Chevron had standing to proceed in its case. There
were -- | think we were virtual. It nust've been the
February 26th docket.

And there were sone clains of
addi ti onal discovery needed. And at that point, |

asked, "What are the issues that are going to a
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hearing?" And | don't know that the parties had a
chance to stipulate to the issues noving forward.
Have you done that?

MR. DEBRI NE: M. Hearing Exam ner, we
have conferred, but | don't know that we have
unanimty with regard to the issues to be presented.
But | think -- if | may just briefly, | think the
Division's order with regard to the notion to dism ss
pretty much defined the issue in its order.

And that is, you know, it is recited
that the statenment that -- of well costs that Chevron
received is legally deficient because it was issued by
unaut hori zed entity, contained inconsistent well data,
and omtted material information regarding the
resci ssion of phase 2 wells for other parties.

So that is the main issue in the case
Is the efficiency of the well -- statenent of well
costs. And there's a variety of sub-issues with
regard to that. The other is with regard to the
operator's obligation of good faith in order to conply
wth the Division's conmpul sory pooling orders.

Ms. Hardy has also identified a key
defense that they're raising as the waiver. So that's
anot her issue. But | think beyond those three issues,

| think those are the main ones for the Division to
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deci de at the evidentiary hearing.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Before | hear
fromyou, Ms. Hardy, it was ny understandi ng,

M. DeBrine, that you were really focused on two
conditions of the conpul sory pooling order. And those
two conditions -- | forgot if it's 25 or 26, 26 or 27.
What were those two?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, the statenment of
well costs with regard to one, what it needs to
I ncl ude.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  What condition
was that? What nunber was that in the --

MR. DEBRINE: It's paragraph 24 of the
or der.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  That's 20 --

MR. DEBRINE: |It's the one that
obligates the operator to submt a statenent of wel
costs. And then paragraph 25 then deals with the
el ection and paynent of well costs by the pool's
wor ki ng i nterest owner.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  And Chevron's
contention was since PBEX did not conply with 24,
their argunent that you weigh -- that you viol ated
your obligation to tinely notify them of your

consent/ non-consent is -- it should not disqualify you
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fromin the future consenting and deval ue -- and
potentially deval uing your m neral estate.

So really we're focused on conditions
24 and 25. |s there anything outside those conditions
that you feel is inportant that we hear at the
contested hearing?

MR. DEBRINE: No. M. Hearing
Exam ner, other than what | already identified.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. Fi ne.

MR. DEBRI NE: Those sub-issues within
t hat .

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's fi ne.
l"mjust trying to get the broader picture here so we
under st and about di scovery and how we're going to
proceed. How many wi tnesses do you anticipate?

MR. DEBRINE: | believe we will have
probably two and possibly three.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. And what
fields of expertise will they be?

MR. DEBRINE: Wth regard to | and
matters and with regard to business practices.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. All
right. Ckay.

Ms. Harvey?

M5. HARDY: Yes. Thank you,
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M. Examner. So | think there are -- | don't

di sagree that those are the issues that Chevron is
raising. But here there are two mmjor issues that |
think are potentially dispositive of the need for a
hearing at all.

And one is waiver because all of
Chevron's argunents relate to the post order wel
proposal election letter, which includes the estinated
statenent of well cost that it signed. Chevron signed
the election letter and returned it. And they -- so
they elected to participate, and then they just didn't
pay their share of the well costs when they were due.

So | think by signing the election
| etter and agreeing to participate, they can't cone
back now and argue the wrong party sent the letter.
The letter didn't include our share of the working
Interest. The estimated well costs were insufficient.
They signed the actual AFE for every well.

So there -- it's a very clear case of
wai ver. And we would plan to file a notion for
summary judgnent on that. And if it's granted -- and
| think it's a very strong case of waiver. | just
t hi nk they waive their argunents. There's no need to
have a hearing or conduct discovery. So | would

request that that issue be addressed first.
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And the other issue that | think
they're raising is whether there is a good faith
negoti ation obligation after a pooling order is
I ssued. That's what they're raising, and that's never
been held by the Division. And it's not in accordance
with the conpul sory pooling statute, which says you
have to reach a voluntary agreenent or try to before
you pool .

Once the parties are pooled, they are
pool ed under the pooling order, and that's what it
says. Then you conply with the requirenents of the
pooling order, which are sending out that statenent of
estimted well cost.

There's not -- so it's a novel issue.
It's never been adopted. And so | think that's
anot her issue that's potentially dispositive. But |
t hink they waived that issue as well by agreeing to
participate in the wells and signing the el ection
letter.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. So you
would like to brief the issue on waiver and possibly
t he good faith dealing that Condition 24 m ght or
m ght not i npose on PBEX?

MS. HARDY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.
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And M. DeBrine?

MR. DEBRI NE: Yes,

M. Hearing Exam ner. The question is how many bites
at the apple are you going to allow EGL and PBEX?
They already filed a notion to dism ss raising what
they said was the threshold i ssue. Now they've
identified two other ones. Both of those are fact

I nt ensi ve.

We could cite to you a half dozen cases
that say waiver's a question of fact that precludes
sunmary judgnment. The sane is true of good faith.

W -- the Division's rules don't provide for notions
for summary judgnment. You're going to open up a box
of Pandora's.

As our fornmer governor once said, if
you are going to allow seriatimnotions practice with
regard to issues that a party identifies in a
conpul sory pooling case or any other case and the
Division's rule don't provide for it, it provides that
you file an application. Division sets an evidentiary
heari ng, and then you decide the nerits. And al
these matters are fact intensive and should be
addressed at a nerits hearing based on the party's
mutual availability to appear and the Division's.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ms. Hardy,
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specifically to the point that the defense of waiver
I s fact based, what is your answer?

MS. HARDY: Here, there are no issues
of disputed fact on that. | think it's very clear.
They' ve signed the election letter. Nowthey're
rai sing clainms about the election letter. | don't
think there are any facts in dispute. | think it can
be a factual issue if there are facts in dispute. But
here, | don't think there are that are material.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So your
contention is once you sign the letter, that's the
fact that matters?

M5. HARDY: Right.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | s you' ve signed
this. And | amnot famliar at all with these
letters. | don't know what they say. But of course,
a good attorney could always find sone | oophol e
sonewhere in these letters to say, "Well, this, or
well, that." So I'mnot -- you know, ny
interpretation of the letter is | don't think it has
any wei ght here. But you're saying there's no other
fact that matters?

MS5. HARDY: W th respect to waiver?
Yes. Clainms regarding the --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And your
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argunent -- of course, you haven't made it yet. But
sinply you -- obviously, you've thought about this
argunment. Your argunent is once they sign the letter
consenting -- because it's a letter of consent; is
that right?

MS. HARDY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. They're
now commtted. And you better pay because if you
don't pay, you are now non-consenting?

MS. HARDY: Under the pooling order.
Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ri ght .

And M. DeBrine, your argunent?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, there's a variety
of factual issues with regard to that particul ar
guestion. One, the letter -- you're consenting wth
whon? \Who are you entering into an agreenment with?
The Division designated an operator, gave rights to an
operator, which are extraordinary powers to conpul sory
pool and devel op sonmebody el se's property.

That's not who the letter was sent by
or on behalf of. That's an issue that we raised with
regard to the notion for standing. You have the
reshuffling of the deck. The Division authorized

specific wells, considered themin a evidentiary
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heari ng, considered the well costs, and approved the
pl an.

Then they reshuffle the deck. Is there
any authority whatsoever for the additional wells that
wer e never proposed or considered by the Division in
the original hearing date? And then you have this
| ssue of constructive fraud where they don't even tel
t he pool parties that they're suspending the second
phase of the drawi ng plan so that you don't even need
to make an election with regard to the phase 2 wells,
that they're tow ng other operators.

They were tow ng other operators before
the date that the tinme and the order is for the
paynment of well costs. So there are a host of factual
| ssues that need to be considered in an evidentiary
hearing. And waiver, you can say it's -- there are no
facts, but there are nunerous facts underlying the
| ssue of waiver in addition to the ongoi ng dial ogue
and negotiations that was going on between the parties
that | ed Chevron to believe that there was no
obligation to pay any well costs what soever.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: What |'mtrying
to understand here is the argunent that Chevron signed
this letter consenting to whatever was in the letter

and didn't do their due diligence before signing it.
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So | can understand if -- once you sign a letter and
then you have to make these other determ nations after
you sign the letter, then |I could see those facts
bei ng materi al .

But if -- and Chevron is not a -- it's
not a nom and pop store. | nean it's a sophisticated
operator in the oil field. So when that -- when -- |
mean, | coul d even understand the argunent of, hey,

t he person who signed the |etter had no authority to
sign the letter.

But if sonmeone at Chevron signs a
| etter and there's agency between the enpl oyee and the
conpany, howis it that Chevron is not bound by that
consent? | understand you're saying -- and that's why
| found that you had standi ng because | agreed that
potentially these matters should have a heari ng.

But when it comes to waiver -- and |
don't even know that waiver applies in this
circunstance. So I'm-- | don't know yet. That
hasn't been briefed. And so |'mjust taking Ms. Hardy
at her word. But | nean, | know waiver is a defense
in many civil forunms, and so maybe it applies. Maybe
it doesn't.

But how do you argue what you j ust

argued as post-signing instead of due diligence before
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you sign?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, there's two issues.
One, just in a nornmal garden variety contract case,
people sign contracts all the tine. And they raise
various issues as to why they're not bound by that
contract, fraud, constructive fraud, authority to
enter into contracts.

Al'l those issues are present in this
case. W' ve got constructive fraud with regard to the
failure to disclose the suspension and rescission of
t he second phase drilling plan. That was never
di scl osed. W have ultra vires authority.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: You sai d that
already. | heard you the first tinme. But | think
what you're saying is waiver -- even if Ms. Hardy is
claimng that there's a waiver, it doesn't necessarily
mean that there was waiver if you have this other
stuff going on. That -- | think that's what you're
saying; right?

MR. DEBRINE: Correct. Al those
| ssues vitiate any consent that may have --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yes. I --

MR. DEBRI NE: Existed just by signing
the letter.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. Okay. |
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hear you. And | don't know the facts and all of that.
But | can understand how you're sayi ng wai ver doesn't
apply, and Ms. Hardy is saying waiver does apply. And
that's really what you're both saying here. Okay.

Now, Ms. Hardy, | still would Iike sone
confirm-- the whole point of today's status
conference was to confirmthe issues that may go
forward if I don't find waiver as a bar to noving
forward or your other issue of good faith dealing
under the order. Okay?

MS. HARDY: Uh- huh.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Do you agree
that it's Clause 24 and 25 in the ordering -- in the
order that will be controlling the evidentiary scope
of this contested hearing?

MS. HARDY: Yes. | believe that that
IS correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Now, was
it you or M. DeBrine who said, "Oh, we need nore
di scovery"?

M5. HARDY: Well, | had said that. And
Ms. Bennett had said that we don't need nore
di scovery. But then | received a subsequent enmuil
from M. Bennett yesterday |listing a whole bunch of

di scovery that they want.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay.
MS. HARDY: So | think that both

parties want nore discovery.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. Ckay.

Fi ne.

MS5. HARDY: Significant, really, |

woul d say, a full sense.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. So that
bei ng said, M. DeBrine and Ms. Hardy, can you get
together? Now that we know what the issues will be if
we get to a hearing, if we get past the waiver
defense, if that is a defense, in light of your
al |l egations of, you know, bad faith dealing and bait

and switch, et cetera -- when did the parties want to

have this hearing?

| mean, | know, Ms. Hardy, you don't
want to have a hearing at all.

But let's start with you, M. DeBrine.
When do you want to have a hearing?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, | believe at the

| ast hearing, the Division proposed two dates, one in

March and one in April.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Uh-
MR. DEBRI NE: The March date does not

wor k for Chevron, but | believe the April

huh.

21st date
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will work for us.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Fine. Apri
21st.

Does that give you enough tinme,
Ms. Hardy, to file your brief on waiver? And |I'm not

telling you it has to be on waiver. You can file

what ever you want to, but that -- does that give you
time to file your pre-hearing brief that -- you know,
or summary judgnment, let's call it. Let's call it a

sunmary judgnment notion.

MS. HARDY: It does, but | think that
the ruling on that notion is going to have a big
| npact on what the parties do in discovery at the
hearing. So | just really feel like it would be nore
efficient to have a ruling on that notion before we
have a hearing setting. So allow for enough tinme --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So are you
sayi ng that you can't conduct discovery at the sane
time?

MS. HARDY: We can, but | think it
would -- | think there are going to be discovery
di sputes probably based on the lists that |I've seen.
And so | think that nore tine would be preferable to
do that.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Well, | -- as
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you know, Ms. Hardy, | like to nove cases al ong when
practical. And | can understand Chevron's perspective
that they're now stuck in this -- what do you call
that? Between -- that's a term Yes. | was thinking
of purgatory really. | don't know why | was thinking
of a religious context, but there it is.

MR. DEBRINE: | think we're probably in
the 5th Circle of Hell right now, M. Hearing
Exam ner.

M5. HARDY: Yeah. | was going to
agree. It's not purgatory.

THE HEARING EXAM NER: So 1'd like to
find a way to nove this along to an April 21st
hearing. So we have an agreenent on the issues. W
have an agreenment that there's going to be sone pre-
hearing briefing -- yes -- briefing, pleadings, and
that there's going to be sone discovery issues here
goi ng on.

How soon, M. DeBrine, can you confer
with Ms. Hardy and cone up with a |list of agreed upon
or not discovery itens that both parties want?

MR. DEBRINE: We could submt sonething
to you tonorrow. We've already conferred, but | don't
think there is any agreenent with regard to pre-

hearing notion practice. And | would caution the
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Division to not open that up for every case for
parties to file notions for summary judgnent.

The issues are very discreet. W m ght
have five or six witnesses, three on each side, a
hal f-day hearing. You know, let's just have the
hearing. And the Division mght be educated by a pre-
hearing brief fromboth sides because it'll help guide
t he hearing examner's and technical exam ner's
questions they may have.

But we don't need notion practice with
regard to dispositive issues, particularly when we've
al ready added and the -- we don't need to have
seriatimnotions to dismss in cases -- if they --
these were issues present when the first notion was
filed and coul d have been raised in that notion, we
coul d have already had a hearing to address them
We're just wasting the parties' and the Division's
time through the proposed notion practice.

M5. HARDY: Can | respond?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: O course.
Definitely. But |I was just thinking.

M5. HARDY: Yeah. Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Before | asked
for your response, | was just thinking about what

M. DeBrine just said.
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You know, M. DeBrine, the Division's
here to give the parties a nmeaningful opportunity to
address their concerns, issues, et cetera. So it's
not wasting our tine to hear this thing, first of all.

Second of all, based on what M. Hardy
was saying, their defensive waiver is based on a
single fact, which is not in contention. | nean, |
know what you said, but it's not in contention that
soneone at Chevron signed sonething that said
sonet hi ng. Ckay.

Now, you, | know, have a position, a
different position to take, but that seens |ike a
| egal position. And | don't think we need to have a
hearing with five witnesses to flesh out the sumuary
judgnment if we heard a summary judgnent notion. So |
don't see that as a problem for the Division. Now,
maybe it is for Chevron, but | don't see it as a
problem for the Division.

So are you saying that -- are you
saying, M. DeBrine, that you would not respond to a
notion for summary judgnent if it filed by PBEX?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, we would obviously
conply with any ruling the Division were to make, but
we -- but then we would file notions for summary

j udgnment because we think the facts are undi sputed on
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all the issues that we raised. |It's just interpreting
docunents.

So let's file four notions for summary
j udgnment on the issues that we raised in response to
the notion to dismss for |lack of standing. It's the
sane thing. W're going to have all these notions for
what when all we have to do is come here for a half
day and consider the evidence? And the D vision can
make the ruling that it feels appropriate based on the
evi dence and any hearing briefs that gets submtted.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So, Ms. Hardy,
you have two things to respond to, the origina
thing -- hopefully, you can renenber -- and now this

over here. Go ahead.

M5. HARDY: Well, | was just going to
say that there's certainly no prohibition on filing
notions -- dispositive notions before a hearing. And

| think it's respectful of the Division's tine for us
to do that in the event that it can narrow the issues
at heari ng.

And our initial notion actually to
dism ss was filed in response to the Division's
I nqui ry about standing. So we certainly weren't
wai vi ng ot her defenses by filing that notion. And I

think it wll be very helpful for us to file a notion
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on wai ver.
Wth respect to the hearing, given the
i ssues that Chevron is raising, which seek to really

create new requirenents on operators, particularly

W th respect to post-order negotiations, | think this
Is going to be not a half-day hearing. | think it --
"' m not sure how many witnesses we will have. They've

rai sed i ssues on industry standards.

Not -- it's not just between these
parties. They're raising industry standards, which is
part of the reason we're going to ask for broad
di scovery on well proposals they've received, wel
proposal s they've sent because they have injected that
| ssue into the case. And so | don't think it's a
short and quick hearing. | think it's potentially a
coupl e of days. So --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. All
right. OCkay. So first of all, unless |I hear a really
good argunent not to set this for April 21st, |I'm
going to set it for April 21st.

Freya do we have anything el se on the
April 21st docket?

M5. TSCHANTZ: We do.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Oh, we do.

Okay. Well, we had five things on today's docket, and
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there's only one left. So we'll set it on a trailing
docket. This will be the last case on the trailing
docket as it sits now. How many do we have ahead of
this?

M5. TSCHANTZ: |I'mpulling up the |ist
now, but | believe there's four.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Onh, anot her one
of those. All right.

Ms. Hardy, how | ong do you need to file
a notion for summry judgnent based on your waiver
argunment ?

M5. HARDY: |'mjust |ooking at the
calendar. | think |I could do that in two weeks.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

And, M. DeBrine, your response?

MR. DEBRINE: My response is | don't
know what procedure I'mto follow when |I see that
notion. The Division has no rules on notions for
sunmary judgnment. |If we're going to follow the New
Mexico Rules for Civil Procedure, the -- a party, in
receiving the notion, you know, they get 15 days.

They can file a Rule 56(F) affidavit
sayi ng they need additional discovery in order to
respond to the notion. W're just opening things up,

which | think unnecessarily. And so if we're going to
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follow those rules, then | think the Division needs to
have a rul emaki ng proceedi ng and adopt those rules

rat her than ad hoc in connection with a single case,

| npose litigation-style rules for this case. It's
unnecessary.

And it mght be a full-day hearing. |
agree with Ms. Hardy. Now that she's indicated that
there m ght be additional wtnesses -- but we don't
need any pre-hearing notions practice. But if we do,
t hen Chevron would want the opportunity to file its
own notion for summary judgnent.

And | think all of the issues that we
i dentified in response to the notion to dismss for
| ack of standing, which concern the deficiencies and
the well statenent and the rescission and changing the
drilling plan, those will all be raised in a
di spositive notion as well.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So, M. DeBri ne,
| understood you to say a m nute ago that you had
certain defenses to the argunment of waiver. And I
assunme those are | egal defenses; right?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, it's the
application of law to facts. They're -- there're
factual issues underlying them

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  But the -- but
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MR. DEBRINE: As there is in any case.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. But
Ms. Hardy's summary judgnment notion woul d be based on
the single issue, the single | egal issue of waiver
based on the single fact that sonmeone at Chevron
signed this piece of paper and therefore has no right
to conplain about it after that. So if we have this
one fact that is not being contested, the fact that
there was a signature, are you saying your defense to
wai ver woul d go beyond that?

MR. DEBRINE: Well, she's calling it a
wai ver, but the issue is whether there was a binding
agreenent between the parties based on the statenment
of well costs. And that depends on was the party who
sent it authorized by the Division to do it? Ws the
wells that were listed in it authorized the Division
to do it?

And was there good faith in actually
providing for it when they knew they weren't even
going to drill the wells? They were in the proposal
|l etter, and they're essentially trying to steal
property from Chevron and conmtting constructive
fraud by disclosing their drilling plans, not just to

Chevron but to the Division.
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It's not just a fraud upon Chevron.
It's a fraud upon the Division when a operator does
what PBEX and EGL did in this case.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: COkay. So
haven't you just nade the argunent now? Didn't you
just make the argunent that there was no waiver, even
if they -- someone signed this thing, that there was
no waiver? 1Isn't that what you're saying?

MR. DEBRINE: Yes. There was no
wai ver. There was --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Okay. Ms.

Har dy, what do you have to say about that?

M5. HARDY: Ckay. There's no fraud.
There's no constructive fraud. There was absolutely
wai ver. Well proposals, changing the nanmes of wells
happens all the tinme due to BLM and APD requirenents.

The order authorized the wells that
have been proposed and that were drilled. The
proposal was not rescinded. There were adjustnents
made for one other operator due to their specific
Ssituation. There's certainly no fraud on the Division
or anyone el se.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Ckay. I
hear you.

M5. HARDY: So it's very clear case of
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wai ver.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So now it sounds
li ke we're getting to the underlying facts of the
merits of the case. Real ly, that's what it sounds
| i ke here. So | think what we should do is this.

This is -- |I've changed ny m nd about how | want to
proceed here.

We'll deal with the discovery issues
right away. W'Il go to a hearing. At the end of the
evidentiary hearing, you can nmake your argunment for
wai ver at that point. OCkay?

M5. HARDY: So --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That -- we don't
need to have this briefing to try to save us tinme and
effort because your waiver argunent and his defense
relies upon the underlying nerits of the case.

M5. HARDY: | don't think it relies on
the inpact of their signature on the well postal
letter.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | think it does
at this point. Fromwhat you've said and what he
said, | think it does. So I'minclined to agree with
M. DeBrine here in that having pre-hearing briefings
and summary judgnment and all this back and forth --

really, let's hear the case.
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And then you nmay hear -- and then you
make your |egal argunent at that point on why, once we
have the facts, their signature prevents them from now
arguing this was double dealing and we shouldn't all ow
t hat .

MS. HARDY: Ckay.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  That's how | see
It now based on what your argunent was. And | heard
your argunent. And based on what his argunent is and
the idea of how waiver works in this context, | agree
we need to understand the facts. W need to hear both
sides before we can even nake a deci sion.

And to do that before the hearing
doesn't make sense because then we're going to have
two hearings. Let's just have one hearing and get it
done.

So now we're back to the issue of
di scovery. And | understand that you haven't agreed
bet ween you on discovery. But there nust be sone
points that you do agree on. There has to be sone
points, some points that both parties agree, "Yes.
This would be relevant to Cl ause 24 and 25."

And then nmaybe parties have argunents,
you know, "We want this extra, we want that extra."

So let's set sonething where the parties submt
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sonething to me saying, "Here are the issues that we
agree" -- sorry -- "here are the discovery areas that
we agree on. Here are the ones that we don't agree
on, and here's why we don't agree on them"

And a sinple short sentence from each
party about, you know, ee don't agree, we agree.
Sorry. We don't -- we find this to be relevant. W
don't find this to be relevant. So can you do that so
| can sign sone sort of subpoena so that you all can
exchange i nformati on and we can hear this on the 21st?

MS. HARDY: Yes.

MR. DEBRINE: Yes. W can do that.
And we can submt a draft subpoena going both ways.
That way you can right anend it as necessary based on
the rulings. So the --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Based on your
argunments --

MR. DEBRI NE: Based on the argunent and
the rulings.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  About di scovery,
rel evancy?

MR. DEBRI NE: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And materiality.

MR. DEBRINE: That'll make it for --

easier to you when you just hear the subpoena.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Yeah. Now, do
both of you agree, while |I have you here, that when it
cones to discovery, ny recollection -- and it's hazy
because | didn't do a ot of this in civil
procedure -- that sonmething has to be calculated to
| ead to sonething that is --

M5. HARDY: Right. See, reasonably
cal cul ated --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's a thing.
That's it. That's the reason --

M5. HARDY: To lead to the discovery of
adm ssi bl e evi dence.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's the one.
Okay. So we agree on the standard?

MR. DEBRI NE: Yes.

MS. HARDY: Yes.

MR. DEBRINE: We will apply the sane
standards as --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So yes?

MS. HARDY: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

MR. DEBRI NE: Proceeding --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Thanks for
hel ping me. | appreciate it. All right.

I's there anything further on this case?
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M5. HARDY: | just do want to make sure
that ny witnesses are avail able on April 21st.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: O course. Do
| et us know.

M5. HARDY: So | will let you know if
not .

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yeah. We can't
force you to a hearing if your witnesses aren't
avail able. W know that.

MS. HARDY: But | haven't checked with
them so | have to do that.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And of course,
they can appear virtually |ike --

MS. HARDY: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Looks |ike M.
Hol liday's witnesses -- are they here?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Two are here.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Great.
Al right. Perfect.

So as you see, we're lenient that way?

M5. HARDY: Yes. Understood.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Okay. Anyt hi ng
further?

MR. DEBRINE: No. W appreciate your

time.
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M5. HARDY: Yes. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you for
hashing it out. It was helpful. Appreciate it.

M5. HARDY: Thank you.

MR. DEBRI NE: Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Thank you.

Al right. Now, going back to case
25610, before the parties begin and before we talk
about prelimnary, because we do have a prelimnary
matter in this case. There was a notion filed.

Ms. Vance, are you arguing it, or is
M. -- excellent. And | saw you --

MR. RANKI N: M. Hearing Exam ner, |
think there's sonme other entries of appearance.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: There are. |
didn't know that. Excellent. Let's hear.

MS5. LUCK: Good afternoon,
M. Hearing Exam ner. |It's Kaitlyn Luck appearing for
Avant .

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Good afternoon,
Ms. Luck.

MR. EVERHART: M. Hearing Exam ner,
Jacob Everhart with Beatty & Wzni ak New Mexi co,
appearing on behalf of Coterra Energy Operating,

Magnum Hunt er Production, Inc. and C marex Energy
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Conmpany of Col orado, collectively as Coterr

noni tori ng purposes only.

a for

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Perfect. Thank

you, M. Everhart.

And, Ms. Luck, you're nonitoring only?

Exam ner.

m Br uce

M5. LUCK: Yes, M. Herring
Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

MR. BRUCE: M. Exam ner, Ji
representing Kaiser-Francis only. |'mjust

noni t ori ng.
THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yes.
wi t hdrew your objection. Thank you.

MS. PENA: Good afternoon,

| saw you

M. Hearing Exam ner. Yarithza Pena with Hardy MLean

on behal f of Perm an Resources Operating.

al so just nonitoring.

And we are

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you,

Ms. Pena.

Are there any others? | saw Ms. Hatl ey
earlier.

WAs she involved in this case, M.
Hol | i day?

There she is. | s she?

M5. HATLEY: Good norning or

good
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afternoon, M. Examner. |'mso used to sayi
nor ni ng.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yes.

ng good

M5. HATLEY: Yes. | ampresent. And

Hol l and & Hart is representing Marathon in this case.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Thank you very

much.
We have a prelimnary matter t
with. So | think let's deal with the prelim

mat t er. | did have a chance to read the noti

o deal
nary

on to

exclude certain evidence as inmterial because the

allegation is that it was not -- the issue was not in

your pre-hearing statement. And the rules require you

to have the non-standard location in -- request in

your pre-hearing statenent.

| also read your first response. | was

In a comm ssion neeting this norning starting at nine

when Freya sent your updated -- what is your
what did you change?
MR. HOLLIDAY: |I'ma stickler

grammar. So | fixed a few things.

up - -

for

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Oh, okay.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Not hi ng.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Al'l right.

Good. So neaningfully, it didn't change your
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response.

Al right. OCkay. So let ne tell
you -- hold on one second. | did an analysis of that.

So, Ms. Vance, |I'mgoing to sum up your
argunent, and then I'mgoing to sumup M. Holliday's
argunment because | didn't have a lot of tinme to do
this. This was all done this nmorning. So | want to
make sure | basically understood your position before
| make a ruling.

So your notion to exclude Powderhorn
Exhibits A-9, A-18, and A-19 as well as paragraph 30
of Travis Macha's statenment are based on three main
| egal argunents. Nunber 1, "Procedural violation."
You argue that "Powderhorn nust include all requested
relief in their application under 19.15.4.8a NVAC
Powder horn's application did not seek a non-standard
| ocati on approval and explicitly stated it would seek
such approval adm nistratively instead.”

MS. LUCK: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Good. Nunber 2,
“"lIrrel evance. Since the NSL approval is not part of
the requested relief, Marathon contends that any

related testinmony or exhibits are irrel evant and

materi al under 19.15.4.17a." You don't have to agree
w th each statenent | make. 1'll ask you at the end.
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Nunmber 3, that "Powderhorn's
adm ni strative NSL applications were protested by
Mar at hon in October of 2025 and subsequently cancel ed
on Novenber 29, 2025, because Powderhorn failed to
resolve the objections within 30 days." Ckay.

And nunber 4, basically, you' re saying
it's inproper bootstrapping. Mrathon is asserting
here that "When an adm nistrative application is
rej ected due to an objection, the proper procedure is
to file a new application for a hearing, not to
bootstrap it into an existing pooling case w thout
proper notice."

MS. LUCK: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Good. Now, the
response in opposition from Powder horn, Powderhorn
argues that | should deny the notion because the
evidence is essential for the Division to evaluate the
proposed devel opnent pl an.

Nunmber 1, "Necessity for eval uation.
Powder horn contends that the Division cannot
meani ngful |l y assess a conmpul sory pooling application
wi t hout under standi ng the engineering rationale and
specific |l ocations of the proposed wells. Broad
adm ssibility. Under 19.15.4.17a NMAC, exam ners have

broad discretion to admt rel evant evi dence.
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Lack of prejudice. Marathon has known
about the proposed NSL since August of 2025.

Powder horn notes that of the 17 noticed parties,
Mar at hon is the sole remaining objector suggesting the
notion is a delay tactic."

Two nore issues. "Adm nistrative
efficiency. Powderhorn requested the Division
adjudicate the NSL within the current proceeding to
avoi d duplicative, costly, inefficient second hearing
I nvol ving the same parties and evidence." And the
| ast one, "Even if the" decision -- "Division decides
t he NSLs nust be pursued separately, Powderhorn argues
the evidence remains relevant to show the
conpl et eness, reasonabl eness, and good faith of the
devel opnent plan.™

Did | capture that?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ch, good. All
right.

You know, the way | | ook at
adm nistrative hearings is that they're due process
hearings. And due process is flexible so that it
gives nme sone way to craft some sort of m ddle ground
here. | understand the argunent. | understand the

argunent in opposition.
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It seens |ike | have several paths
forward. Nunmber 1, | could conditionally admt the
evidence for the limted purpose of evaluating the
reasonabl eness and good faith of the devel opnent pl an.
The exhibits would be part of the record for the
pooling case, but the Division would not grant the
actual NSL approval in this proceeding.

That way Powderhorn gets to explain
their engineering logic to the exam ner now while
Mar at hon preserves its right to a separate form
hearing on the specific NSL technicalities |ater.

Two -- this is sort of a de facto
consol idation. The conprom se. The Division could
al | ow Powderhorn to verbally anmend its application to
i nclude the NSL relief, provided it can prove that all
17 affected parties received notice that was
substantially equivalent to the hearing notice. If |
find that this previous notice was sufficient to
satisfy due process, we could hear both matters and
avoid a duplicative proceeding.

Finally, since Marathon relied on the
XTO Apache precedent, which suggests a rejected

adm ni strative application requires a brand new filing

for a hearing, | could hear the pooling evidence now
but stay the final order until Powderhorn formally
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refiles its NSL application. This at |east keeps the
case noving forward w thout violating the technical
requi rement that this specific NSL relief nust be
I ncl uded in the application.

Finally, the parties could reach a
m ddl e ground by agreeing on certain technical facts
whi | e di sagreeing on the procedural |law. Marathon
could withdraw its objection to the adm ssibility of
t he evidence if Powderhorn stipulates that the
evi dence cannot be used as the | egal basis for an
| mredi ate NSL order.

So |l et ne ask you a questi on,
M. Holliday. And then it conmes to giving ne the
evidence | need to show that all 17 affected parties
recei ved notice that was substantially equivalent to
t he hearing notice about the NSL, what do you say?

MR. HOLLIDAY: If | were to rank our
priorities on this, the first would be to allow the
evidence in so that we can assess the devel opnent pl an
because seeking these offsets in the Purple Sage
Wbl fcanp is a conmon course business. Every operator
does it. It's fully expected that Powderhorn would in
its devel opnment pl an.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: By your saying

"of fset," you nmean non-standard | ocation?
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes. The non-standard
| ocations. Yes, sir. Shrinking the heel toe from 330
to a hundred feet. So that would be priority nunber
1. We would prefer, rather than have a duplicative
hearing, that we could hear it all at one tine. W
have the sane parties, sane evidence, sane notices,
sane counsel probably. And we're already here. So --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So is that an
answer to the question |I just asked?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | wasn't sure.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So yes, sir. Qur
main priority would be to get the evidence in. And we
woul d - -

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's not what
| asked you, though.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | don't want you
to rank the options right now \Wat |I'm asking you is
for nunmber 2 to be even an option, | need to hear from
you on how all 17 parties were given notice about this
NSL.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. | would -- |
beli eve they are because they' re the sane parties in

the case. | would need to conpare the NSL notice to
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the hearing notice to ensure that there weren't maybe
sone offset operators to the NSL | ocati ons.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yeah. | -- that
answer doesn't really say that you know. So -- and |
need to make a deci sion now.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Sure.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. So
w t hout knowi ng that, |'mgoing to take option 2 off
the table. | do find the evidence relevant and
material, so I'mgoing to let the evidence in. But
|"mnot going to -- the Division will not nake a
ruling on the NSL as part of today's contested
heari ng.

Did you have sonething to say,

Ms. Vance?

MS5. VANCE: Yes. | want to nmake a
coupl e of points.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Go ahead.

MS. VANCE: Nunber 1, so Powderhorn
confuses the issue here. Merit -- the Marathon is not
arguing at all that Powderhorn is not entitled to
present its proposed and conpl ete pl an.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

MS. VANCE: It can do that. And if

t hey want to discuss longer |ateral |inks, they can do
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that. They can do that because they have their C-102s
i ncluded in their hearing packet, which includes their
first and | ast take points, which are at a non-
standard | ocati on.

They're two separate issues. The
| onger lateral links, they can discuss that through
their C-102s. The NSL, the canceled adm nistrative
applications for non-standard well location, that is
not relevant and material because it's not a part of
their application for hearing.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Whi ch exhibit is
t hat ?

M5. VANCE: It was the -- which one?
The C-102s or the canceled adm nistrative application?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That. That's
t he exact --

M5. VANCE: So that's the A-18 and |
think A-19. VWhat | included or outlined in ny
obj ection. So you give ne what --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So hol d on.

Hol d on, Ms. Vance.

M. Holliday, would you please tell ne
what are -- the exhibits that | just listed a m nute
ago, what is Exhibit A-9?

M5. VANCE: A-19. Sorry. And A-18.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Well, |I'm
not asking you about A-19, Ms. Vance, so please hold
on.

MS. VANCE: Sure.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday,
what is Exhibit A-9?

MR. HOLLI DAY: A-9 is our Pooled Party
List & Commtnent Status. There's a reference to the
NSL, like, a -- not even a conplete sentence in there.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. So based
on ny ruling, you can renove that reference to the
NSL; right?

MR. HOLLI DAY: We could renove the
reference to the NSL from A-9. Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's what |'m
asking you. Okay. So that cures that A-9 based on ny
ruling that | still find some of this evidence to be
relevant and material. So |let nme continue with
M. Holliday first.

MS. VANCE: And --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And what is A-
18, M. Holliday?

MR. HOLLIDAY: A-18 is a sunmary of the
non-standard | ocation rationale that Powderhorn woul d

like to present. And A-19 -- 1'Ill skip ahead -- is
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our sanple notice letter that was sent out on October

22nd.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So, M.
Hol liday, if | have ruled that since your pre-hearing
statenent did not -- |I'm accepting the argunent made

by Ms. Vance that because the pre-hearing statenment
did not contain a request for an NSL and that you need
to proceed on that separately. Do you still need A-
187

MR. HOLLIDAY: | think we do need A-18.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  \Why?

MR. HOLLI DAY: To tell the conplete
story of the devel opnment plan.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

And Ms. Vance?

MS. VANCE: It's included with their C
102s. It has their first and | ast take point. |If
they want to discuss that through their direct
testinony, they can. And further, | do want to point
out that this is prejudicial to Marathon. This was
not included in their original application.

As you pointed out, there was a period
of tinme that they were through the adm nistrative
process to resolve this issue with Marathon that ended

at the -- in -- it was Novenber 29, 2025. And so
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t hey've had three nonths if they wanted to file a new
application or an anended application and do a new
notice and include this as a part of their affirmative
case and requested relief.

They have not done that. W got no
heads up fromtheir counsel that they were going to
include this as a part of their affirmati ve case and
al so request that they have -- that they include the
approval for this as a part of their affirmative case.
And so -- and not -- and it wasn't included in their
pre-hearing statenent.

So then Marathon is prejudiced. W are
not allowed to -- we're not in a position where we
were able to make that a part of our affirmative case.
So | would request that this is renoved fromtheir --
that this -- the testinony and exhibits be renoved.

And if they want to file -- | know
you've got sone other suggestions about how to keep
the case noving forward. But at |east for us here
today, this should not be a part of the case at all.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | ' ve al ready
rul ed on Exhibit A-9 and that they're going to renove
the reference to an NSL in A-9. So | can't see how
that would prejudice you with Exhibit A-9.

MS. HARDY: | " mtal king about the A-18,
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A-19, and then the testinmony of -- M. Mcha's
testi nony.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. So what
l'"mgoing to do with A-18, A-19, and paragraph 30 of
M. Macha's statenent is let's wait until you're
presenting your case because |'mnot going to tell you
how to present your case. And | don't think it's
right for an opposing party to say what you need and
what you don't need. | understand their objection. |
found in favor to an extent in their favor.

But | still feel |like you need to be
able to nmake a full and fair case and give us the
infornmati on that shows what | said before, that -- |I'm
going to go back to what | said before, that |I'm going
to admt the evidence for the limted purpose of
eval uating the reasonabl eness and good faith of your
devel opnent plan as long as it doesn't prejudice the
ot her party because | do understand Ms. Vance's
argument as well that, you know, you had all this tine
to do this.

And all of a sudden, they're seeing
this. That's understandable. There's no way around
that. So you'll make your individual what -- when we
get these exhibits, you'll make your argunent as to

each exhibit, not A-9 because |'ve already rul ed about
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A-9 -- but A-18 and A-19 and then that paragraph of
M. Mcha's.

You'l | make your argunment at that tine
when we can see it because | have to figure out what
part of those exhibits, if any, goes to the bigger
pi cture and what part is prejudicial and unfair
because | agree with that part of the argunment. So
that will be ny ruling that 1'"mgoing to admt.

So we're not proceeding on the NSL
today. So in that respect, |I'mgranting the notion.
However, M. Holliday needs to be able to make a ful
and fair case. And if part of that evidence goes
toward the reasonabl eness and the good faith of the
devel opnent plan, then I want to hear it and the
Division wants to hear it. So that's how | want to
proceed on that prelimnary matter.

Now, what | want to do next is | want
to discuss ny reading of the pre-hearing statenments
and the issues in contention. This is for both
mysel f, the parties, anyone who's |istening, and for
M. Fordyce, who |I've already discussed this wth.

So | see that there are really four --
| really see four issues here between Mrathon and
Powder horn that we need to take evidence and nake a

deci si on based on. Nunmber 1, control of overl apping

Page 59

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

acreage. And of course, this is the central conflict.

It involves the north half of irregular
section 2, which both conpanies include in their
proposed spacing units. |'mgoing to say Marathon's
position first.

Mar at hon clains that it owns or
controls 100 percent of the working interest in this
specific acreage through a 1976 JOA. They argue that
under our precedent, the operator with the majority
I nterest in the overl apping area should prevail.

Powder horn, on the other hand, seeks to
pool all uncommtted interests wwthin a |arger 959.6
acre unit. That includes section 2. They argue that
the OCD precedent, orders R14140, R23869, allow the
Di vision to pool acreage already subject to a JOA into
a | arger spacing unit.

M. Holliday, did | outline in the bare
bones way issue of controlling overl apping acreage?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir. As to the
| ssues.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: OF course.

Ms. Vance?

MR. RANKI N: "1l take it. I think
it's a fair overview of the representative argunents.

Yeah.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And that's all
| " m doi ng here.

MR. RANKI N:  Yeabh.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Just trying to
give a very broad three -- 30,000 feet perspective so
t hat everyone feels like they're oriented here, at
| east | do.

Nunmber 2, risk of stranded acreage
versus efficient devel opnent. The parties disagree on
whi ch plan better protects correlative rights and
prevents waste.

First, I'Il give Powderhorn's concern.
Powder horn al |l eges that Marathon's plan, which is
limted to the north half of section 2, will strand
the or -- the northeast quarter of section 3. They
argue that their one and a half mle |aterals provide
a nore conprehensive devel opnment of the Wl fcam
formation.

Mar at hon.  Mar at hon ar gues t hat
Powder horn's asynchronous drilling plan will cause
parent/chil d degradation and that Powderhorn's
approach forfeits econom es of scale that Marathon's
co-devel opnment of Wl fcanp benches woul d capture.

M. Holliday?

MR. HOLLI DAY: That's sufficient. Yes,
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sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Ranki n?

MR. RANKIN: | think that's an accurate
capture of the argunents.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: We're hal fway
t here.

Third -- three, operator qualifications
and readi ness. Marathon raises several chall enges
regardi ng Powderhorn's capability to execute its
proposed plan. They raise the foll ow ng issues.
Operational track record. Marathon points out that
Powder horn's a new operator in New Mexico with no
hi story of drilling horizontal wells in the state.

Mar at hon conversely notes it already
operates existing wells in the area. And
infrastructure and permitting. Marathon clains it has
approved applications for permt to drill, firm
commtnments for takeaway, water, gas, and oil, and a
pre-approved state communitizati on agreenent.

Mar at hon asserts Powderhorn | acks APDs and has not
secured takeaway for oil and gas.

M. Rankin?

MR. RANKIN: That's a fair summary of
t he readi ness argunents that we presented.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And | ast, good

Page 62

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

faith negotiations. Again, Marathon contends that
Powder horn did not engage in good faith negotiations
bef ore seeki ng conpul sory pooling. This is a standard
requi rement for the Division to grant a pooling order.
You don't have to agree with that. It's pretty

si npl e.

MR. HOLLIDAY: M. Examner, if | may
circle back to point nunber 17

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: We only actually have
one proposed devel opnent plan from-- in front of the
Di vi si on today.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

MR. HOLLI DAY: That's the Powder horn
plan that's seeking to pool the acreage within the
Super Hornet Unit. Marathon's objecting on the
rationale that they will self-devel op, but there's no

pl an before the Division for that.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | thought that
was because Marathon's plan -- | thought they had a
320 acre -- 0.32 acre spacing unit plan that they

didn't need because they have voluntary conm t nent.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. That's correct.

We're that -- tracking on that issue. Yes, sir. No.
| would strenuously disagree that -- actually, there
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are two devel opnment plans firmy in front of them
Yeah. There are two pl ans.

We did -- however, only one pooling
application is before the Division. W do have a
contradictory pooling -- a contradictory devel opnent
pl an that involves fully developing the north half of
section 2 Wl fcanp acreage.

So that's what M. Holliday's referring
to. Yes. |It's a plan to self-develop. It is a
devel opnent plan. There are APDs that have been
i ssued. And the -- Marathon is ready and willing and
able to go forward with this drilling plan.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ch, thank you.

So | think next let's deal with
exhibits. Let's try to get as many adm tted through
stipul ation as we can.

So, M. Holliday, have you -- what
exhi bits have you submtted for this hearing?

MR. HOLLI DAY: We have submitted two
packets of exhibits, our original exhibits and a nuch
smal | er rebuttal packet.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Perfect. How
have you | abel ed your exhibits?

MR. HOLLI DAY: We've | abeled A as our
| and exhibits. And then that's A-1 through 19. And
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this is on page 2 of our original exhibit package. W
have a nunbered -- a page nunbered index.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

MR. HOLLI DAY: B, we have our geol ogy.
So we have seven original exhibits in our geol ogy.
And then for C, we have reservoir where there are six
exhibits. And for D, it's legal. Those are ny
exhibits, and that -- there are four there.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. | didn't
catch how many reservoir exhibits you have?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Si x.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Six. All right.
So |l et ne just repeat this because this will be very
i nportant. You have your |and exhibits marked as
Exhi bits A and then A-1 through 19?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. (Good.
Your geol ogy exhibits are marked as B and then B-1
t hrough B-77

MR. HOLLI DAY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Your reservoir
engi neering exhibits are C and then C-1 through C-6?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  All right. Your
| egal exhibits are D and D-1 through D 47
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir.
THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And then you

have rebuttal exhibits. But let's wait for just a

nmonment on the rebuttals. | want to ask you a few
questions. Let's see. | wote this down sonewhere.
Hold on a second. One nonent. | show your -- here we
go. GCkay. | show Travis Macha is your |andman?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Leonard Wbod is
your geol ogi st?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Brendan Ti ppen,
reservoir engineer?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  All right. And
t hen obviously you. Gkay. Now, | recognize sone of
t hese nanes. Have all three of your expert w tnesses
been adm tted before this Division as experts in their
fields?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes. They have.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Very
good. All right. So that's excellent. Now, your
rebuttal exhibits, how have you marked those?

MR. HOLLI DAY: So we've marked those in

a simlar fashion. On page 2 of the rebuttal packet,
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we' ve just continued the nunbering.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yeabh.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So Ais still land, and
then we seek to exhibit -- admt exhibits A-20 through
25.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Fi ne.

MR. HOLLI DAY: For B, our geol ogy, we
have one additional Exhibit B-8.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And for reservoir,
Exhibit C, we have two additional. That would be C7
and C- 8.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  All right. Now,
| don't know who the -- M. Rankin? Okay. Good. All
right. So fromnowon, I'mjust calling on you? All
right. Fine. You'll let me know when you want --
when you get tired and you want Ms. Vance to take
over? All right. So, M. Rankin, have you had a
chance to review all these exhibits?

MR. RANKIN: | have.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Great.
Are you willing to admt any of themthrough a
stipul ati on?

MR. RANKIN: |'m happy to admt all the

exhibits, including A-18, with the caveat that we have
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an outstanding objection to it being admtted on the

grounds for the nmotion. And so | won't further nmake

any argunents on that -- but just with the caveat that
A-18 is subject -- remain subject to our notion to
excl ude.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: \What about A-19?

MR. RANKIN: It doesn't really serve
any purpose because it -- since the Division's already
ruled that it's not going to rule on the NSL
application and grant that relief, it doesn't really
serve any purpose. So | -- it's extraneous | think.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. Okay.

Fi ne. | have it here. So basically then, what |I'm
understanding fromyou is you have no objection to
admtting all of the exhibits that we just talked
about, including the rebuttal exhibits with the
exception of A-18?

MR. RANKIN: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Okay. And |
think there's also a paragraph in A-2. Wasn't there
A- 3?

MR. RANKIN: That's correct. And |
t hi nk, you know, again, it's alnost irrelevant because
the Division is not going to rule to grant that

relief.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ri ght. Okay.

Al right. Well, I just -- I'"mjust being proactive
here. Okay. Fine.

So, M. Holliday, your exhibits are all
admtted into evidence with the exceptions that we
j ust spoke about.

(Powder horn Exhibits A through C-8 were

mar ked for identification and received

I nto evidence.)

MR. HOLLI DAY: Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yeah. Ckay.
Now, let's go to Marathon. Can you walk nme through
what | just asked M. Holliday?

MR. RANKIN: Sure. Thank you,

M. Hearing Exam ner. Marathon has submtted a set of
direct testinmony exhibits marked A, B, and C A is
the self-affirnmed statenment of Ms. Shelley Klingler,

| andman. She's previously been qualified already in

| and matters. Attached are her Exhibits A-1 through
A- 8.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Rankin, does
that include a self-affirmed statenent that's
generally marked as Exhibit A? So is it --

MR. RANKIN: Correct. So Ais a
separate exhibit and then A-1 through A-8.
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THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Got it.
VWhat' s next?

MR. RANKIN. Sane process for
M. Preston Dupree. He's a geologist. He has not

previously testified. Hi s exhibits are B, which is a

self-affirmed statenent, and then B-1 through B-5,

whi ch include his resunme. Ckay.

And then finally, Exhibit C, which is

the self-affirmed statenent of Dr. Unekwe, who's a

engi neer, reservoir engineer. And he has not

previously testified before the Division. And

attached is his sole exhibit for -- on direct

resune, C-1.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Thank you. No

rebuttal exhibits?

MR. RANKIN: We filed rebuttal

exhibits. Wuldn't mss the opportunity. And those
are exhibits numbered Marat hon Rebuttal Exhibits 1

t hrough 9.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  All right. So

they don't necessarily track the original wt
They're just 1 through 9?

MR. RANKIN: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay.
fine. Ckay.

Is his

nesses.

That's
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M. Holliday, nowit's your turn. Any
reason?

MR. HOLLI DAY: We have no objection to
the exhibits or the rebuttal exhibits.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Great. Thank
you, sir.

(Marat hon Exhi bits A through Rebuttal 9

were marked for identification and

received into evidence.)

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  So | want to
mention, M. Aragon, all the exhibits from both
parties have been admtted except A-18 -- that's
Powder horn -- and paragraph 30 of Powder horn's Exhi bit
A. Do you copy?

THE REPORTER: Noted. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

Al right. So we have now to decide
who's going first.

| would think it would be you,

M. Holliday. Are you good with that?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: You are good
with that. Ckay.

And is there any objection, M. Rankin?

MR. RANKI N: No. M. Hearing Ofice,
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in fact, we have conferred on that exact issue. And
if it's okay with you, I mght -- and with M.
Hol i day represent to you what we di scussed and agreed
I f that's okay, if you agree.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Yeah. Great.

MR. RANKIN: So in the past, | think
we' ve taken different approaches with contested
hearings. And here, | do think it's nost efficient if
the presenting party were to present each of their
W t nesses, go fromdirect right into rebuttal.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Agr eed.

MR. RANKIN: Go into cross and then
avai l abl e for Division exam nation.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Agr eed.

MR. RANKIN. Now, the only other tw st
s that one of our witnesses who's renpte is not
avail able tonorrow. So we've asked --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | remenber you
mentioned it.

MR. RANKIN: Yeah. W' ve asked that he
be permtted to go out of order so that --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: By all neans--

t oday before we cl ose.
MR. RANKIN. Thank you very nuch.
THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Yeah. And what
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I's the name of that w tness?

MR. RANKIN: Dr. Umekwe the reservoir
engi neer.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: \What country is
he fronf?

DR. UMEKWE: Nigeri a.

MR. RANKIN: Nigeria.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Yes. Perfect.
Okay. We will get you in today, sir. Ckay.

M. Holliday, | don't know if you feel
it necessary, but if you do, one or two-m nute opening

st at enent ?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir. "1l get --
excuse ne. |'ll get through this as briefly as I can.
Al right.

So ny nane's Ben Holliday. | represent

the applicant in this case, Powderhorn Operating. And
this case concerns whether the Division should approve
a 960 acre horizontal spacing unit covering section 2
and the east half of Section 3 and Township 24 South
Range 26 East for Wl fcanmp devel opnent.

Powder horn's evidence is going to show

t hat Powder horn's proposed devel opnent plan is a real

engi neered and executable plan that will efficiently
develop the entire 960 acres. It will prevent waste
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and protect the correlative of rights of all owners in
the spacing unit that include the State of New Mexi co.

By contrast, Marathon asked the
Division to divide -- to deny Powderhorn's application
based on a 50-year-old joint operating agreenent that
was witten for vertical wells, that has never been
used to devel op the Wolfcanp formati on, and contains
no provisions for horizontal devel opnent across
mul ti ple sections.

So the Division has already addressed
this precise situation as we've discussed in the Fiero
case order nunber R23869 | ast year, where the Division
confirmed that it has the authority to prove pooling
over the objection of an operator who's relying on a
| egacy era -- | nmean, excuse ne -- |egacy vertical era
JOA when the Division finds that it's necessary to
ensure the efficient devel opnent and to protect
correlative rights.

So we believe the facts in this case
track those in Fiero and are at | east as conpelling,

I f not nore so. Powderhorn started with its

devel opnent plan in July of 2025 and proposed it --
acquired it in July of '"25 and proposed devel opnent
within seven days.

In that tinme period, Powderhorn has
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secured over 78 percent of the working interest
commtnment to its devel opnent plan. It has obtained,
| i ke Marat hon, pre-approval for the required state
communi zati on agreenent. We've -- Powderhorn has
staked its drilling | ocation.

They have secured water contracts.

They have prepared a fully engi neered devel opnment plan
that targets the Wbl fcanp A in which has provisions
for later infill devel opnent of the Wolfcanmp B. |If
granted an order, Powderhorn intends to spud as wel |l

i n Sept ember of 2026.

Ckay. So again, to sumup Marathon's
argunent, ©Marathon objects primarily on the argunent
that a 76 Joint Operating Agreenent covering the north
hal f of section 2 only gives it exclusive control over
devel opnent, at least as to the north half, and as
affects this case, the entire proposed Super Hornet
spaci ng unit.

But our evidence is going to show three
things. One, as | nentioned, that JOA has never been
used to develop Wil fcanp formation in the nearly 50
years that it's existed. Second, the |largest interest
owner i s subject to that agreenent -- non-operated
wor ki ng i nterest owner subject to that joint operating

agreenent, Kaiser-Francis, has already signed a
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supersedi ng JOA, horizontal JOA, wi th Powderhorn,
agreeing to participate in Powderhorn's devel opnent of
the full 960.

And finally, Marathon's own proposed
alternative does not develop all of the acreage that
Powder horn seeks to pool, particularly state mnerals
in Section 3. So if Powderhorn's application is
deni ed, those acres risk being stranded with no
division in post tineline requiring devel opnent of the
north half of section 2.

So we're going to present three
W t nesses as we nmentioned earlier. First, you're
going to hear from M. Macha. That's Powderhorn's
| and representative.

And so M. Macha's going to go through
the conpany's efforts to negotiate with Marat hon over
t he past seven nonths, the commtnents that Powderhorn
has obtained fromother working interest owners in the
unit, proposed unit, and the concrete steps that
Powder horn has taken to prepare for devel opnent in
this area.

We're next going to hear from M.

Whod -- or next in Powderhorn's order anyway.
M. Hood -- M. Wod will explain the geol ogi cal

continuity of the Wil fcanp across the proposed unit.
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And we will discuss the regional -- everyone's
favorite topic, regional stress orientation that
supports Powder horn's east/west well design.

And then finally, we're going to hear
from M. Tippen, Powderhorn's reservoir engineer.

M. Tippen will explain why Powderhorn's mle and a
hal f devel opnent plan is nore efficient and better
suited to develop the full unit than the one mle
alternative proposed by Marathon and why Marat hon's
cl ai ms about mandatory co-devel opnent of the Wl fcanp
A and B are not supported by the data.

So at the end of the hearing, our
evidence will show three things. One, Powderhorn has
presented the Division with real plans to drill wells
and has taken concrete steps to execute on those
plans. This plan is going to efficiently devel op the
entire 960 acres, including state mnerals that would
ot herw se at least, at a mninum be at risk of going
undevel oped.

And finally, that approving
Powder horn's application will prevent ways to protect
the correlative rights of all parties as is required.
So for those reasons, Powderhorn requests the Division
approve the requested pooling order. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.
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M. Rankin, would you |like to make your
openi ng statenent now?

MR. RANKIN:. 1'd like to reserve ny
opening to see how t hings shake out until we present
our case in chief.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Very good.

MR. RANKI N: | woul d, though, if I --

I f you don't mnd, M. Examner, | mght just raise a
potentially brew ng evidentiary dispute that was
brought to ny attention fromthe opening. | wll just
point out that in their case in chief, Powderhorn has
made the argunent that the northeast corridor of
section 3 will be stranded by Marathon's devel opnent.

And | just heard fromthe opening
statenent that they intend to present testinony on
well orientation. That argunent is integral to the
strandi ng argunent -- okay -- whether the
orientation -- what the orientation of the well is --
should be or if there's a preferred orientation.

That shoul d have been part of their
case in chief. GOCkay. Because if they're going to
argue it's stranded in northeast quarter, it was
required to be made in their case in chief that there
was a preferred well orientation. And they didn't

make it in their case in chief, nor do they make it in
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the rebuttal.

So |l -- at this point, I"'mgoing to
say, if it cones up, that | want to just apprise the
Division that that's going to be an objection because
nunber one, it was necessary to be nade in their case
in chief. They made the affirmative argunent that the
Nort heast quarter was going to be stranded.

The only way for it to be stranded is
I f they could argue that there was a | aydown-only
preferred orientation. And they didn't make it in
their case in chief. And they haven't made it in the
rebuttal. And so it's now far del ayed to make that
argunent at this |ate date.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: You can nake
your objection at the tine.

MR. RANKIN. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: That's your
right. Okay. So you're reserving your opening.
That's fine.

How many -- |I'd like to get all the
W tnesses sworn in at the sanme tine. | see -- would
all the witnesses besides Ms. Hatley cone on up to the
Wi t ness stand over here?

You're not a witness. Are you,

Ms. Hatl ey?
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M5. HATLEY: Maybe soneday.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  That'I| be the
day. Huh, Ms. Hatley? Okay. One, two, three -- how
many are you are from Powder horn? Two. Perfect.

And you are from Marat hon? Very good.

And ny understanding is that there's
one nore each that nust be virtual. Okay. Can we get
t hose witnesses? Oh, | see. | see M. Unekwe. All
right. And then there should be one nore virtual. |
see now. Thank you. Okay. Very good.

| see you, M. Wbod.

M. Pascal, would you pl ease say your
name properly?

DR. UVMEKWE: Yeah. M nane is
Maduabuchi Pascal Unekwe.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Gee whiz. |
didn't even hear. Wuld you mnd if | call you
M. Pascal ? Does that bother you?

DR. UMEKWE: Not at all.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Good.

DR. UMEKWE: That's fine.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Because | was
hopi ng you would clarify how you say your |ast nane,
but | didn't even hear you say it, which is not good

for me. Al right.
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So woul d everyone pl ease raise their
ri ght hands? Very good.

Do you swear or affirmunder penalty of
perjury the testinony you're about to give is the
truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth do?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Perfect.
| heard from everyone. Ckay. You can |ower your
hands. Thank you.

Now, for the people here in the room

will you turn on that m crophone? There's a button on
the right. [It'll turn green. Wuld you state and
spell your name for the record and tell ne -- if you

have been admtted as an expert before this Division,
tell me what expertise that's in. [If you haven't,
pl ease tell nme and stay there.

MR. DUPREE: Preston Dupree. | have
not been admtted as an expert w tness.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: But you seek to
be adnmitted as an expert witness in what field?

MR. DUPREE: Petrol eum geol ogy.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Pet r ol eum
geol ogy. And are you with Marathon?

MR. DUPREE: Yes. | am

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | t hought so.
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Okay. M. Dupree. OCkay. We'll get to your
gqualifications in a nonent, so don't go back to your
seat yet.

Go right ahead, ma'am

MS. KLI NGLER: Good norning, M.

Exam ner. Shelley Klingler, S-HE-L-L-E-Y K-L-1-N-G
L-E-R.  And | have been admtted for petroleum]land
matters.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And | recogni ze
you just fromrecently in the last -- yes. | thought
so. And are you with Mrathon?

MS. KLI NGLER: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: You are? Ckay.
And you said |and matters, Ms. Klingler.

MS. KLINGLER: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

Ckay. Go ahead.

MR. TIPPEN: M nane is Brendan Tippen.
| have not been admitted before the comm ssion before,
but |1'm seeking to be an expert in reservoir
engi neeri ng.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And you're with
Powder hor n?

MR. TIPPEN: Correct.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | t hought so.

Page 82

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com




© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

MR. TIPPEN. M ss --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. That's
okay. So you won't be goi ng anywhere qui ck soon.

And then, M. Macha, | recognize you.

MR. MACHA: Yes. Travis Macha, T-R-A-
V-1-S MA-CHA And |'ve been admtted in | and.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | know you have.
So, M. Macha and Ms. Klingler, please have a seat.
Let's deal with your -- one at a tine, please have a
seat. Okay.

Now, are you M. Tippen?

MR. DUPREE: Dupr ee.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Dupr ee.

You're M. Tippen?

MR. Tl PPEN: Yes.

VHEREUPON,
PRESTON DUPREE,
called as a witness and havi ng been previously duly
sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
EXAM NATI ON

BY THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Dupree, tell

me about your education toward the field of the

geol ogy.
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MR. DUPREE: Yes, sir. | did ny
bachel or's of science degree in geology at Texas --
Texas A&M Uni versity.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: \What year?

MR. DUPREE: Graduated in 2019. And
then | did ny Masters of Science in geology at TCU.
Graduated in 2023.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: \What's TCU?

MR. DUPREE: Texas Christian
Uni versity? Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Okay. Thank
you. And then what work have you done? What
experience do you have toward petrol eum geol ogy?

MR. DUPREE: Yes, sir. After ny
graduation at A&M | was a nud | ogger, so | worked in
various areas across New Mexi co and Texas, working for
various operators, collecting nud sanples, doing |ogs
per client request.

During ny time at Texas Christian
University, | was working also full tinme at Finley
Resources. They are now called U nta Wax wor ki ng out
of the U nta -- Ui nta Basin.

Foll ow ng that, | was working at U. S
Ener gy Devel opnent Corporation, doing well bore deals

and bal |l ot eval uati ons across the Pern an Basi n. And
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then in 2023, | cane over to ConocoPhillips, and |I've
been here ever since.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Oh, you're with
ConocoPhi | |i ps?

MR. DUPREE: And Marat hon subsidiary.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: It's the sanme
conpany or under the same unbrella?

MR. DUPREE: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ch, okay. I
didn't know that.

You never told nme that, Ms. Hatl ey.

MR. DUPREE: Subsidiary.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | didn't know
that. Thank you. What is your title at
ConocoPhi | I'i ps?

MR. DUPREE: Currently, just geol ogist.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  CGeol ogi st ?

MR. DUPREE: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  And what are
your current duties now?

MR. DUPREE:. | amcurrently the
devel opnent geol ogi st across portions of Eddy County.
| "' mresponsi ble for devel opnent projects from
conception to spud, also in charge of |eading third-

party contractors by geosteering. That pretty nuch
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suns up what | do.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  What part of
your job requires that you interpret the geol ogy
under gr ound?

MR. DUPREE: On a daily basis, based
of f the devel opnment projects that we have, such as the
project we're referring to today. Just different
devel opnent projects that we have. Don't want to
speak too specifically about that, but | -- across
Eddy County, |I'mevaluating different projects that we
are doing internally.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. And you
said sonething about Unta. |s that in Uah?

MR. DUPREE: Yes. Green River
For mati on.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yeah. | thought
so. Okay. Okay. So fromhere on in, you're
qualified before this Division as an expert in
petrol eum geol ogy.

VHEREUPON,

BRENDAN TI PPEN,
call ed as a witness and having been previously duly
sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:

Il
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EXAM NATI ON
BY THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Ti ppen,
woul d you do the sanme thing, education first and
experience, throw in sone dates. Tell nme how your
education and your experience |end toward reservoir
engi neeri ng?

MR. TIPPEN: Yes, sir. So ny nane is
Brendan Tippen. | went to the University of Texas and
studi ed petrol eum engi neeri ng and have a bachelor's
degree in petroleum engi neering. After Texas, | --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Vhen did you
earn it?

MR. TI PPEN: 2012 to 2016.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

MR. Tl PPEN: In 2016, | started with
Pi edra Resources, a Perm an-based oil and gas
operator. |'ve worked with Perman -- or with Piedra
Resources for eight years until 2024. | was -- |
started as a reservoir engi neer, ended as their | ead
reservoir engineer, and oversaw acqui sitions,
pl anni ng, and devel opnent of our oil and gas
resour ces.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: What does a

reservoir engi neer do?
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MR. TIPPEN: We evaluate deals on the
front end, evaluate acreage, and bl ock together
positions. Once we have a position, we -- we do
detail ed pl anning of how we responsi bly devel op that
position. And then we work with our operations teans
to -- to responsibly devel op the position.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. Al
right. And so you're with who now?

MR. TIPPEN: |I'mw th Powderhorn
engi neer -- or Powderhorn Energy. |'mtheir director
of engineering. 1've been there since 2024, and |

currently oversee all of the A&D engi neeri ng work
related to acquiring | easehold. | oversee trades and
in work blocking up as it relates to engineering. And
then I'malso | ooking forward in the devel opnent and
pl anni ng of -- of our assets.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. All
right. Thank you. From here on in, you're recognized
as an expert in reservoir engineering.

Now, let me go to M. Wod because your
picture is nice and |large at the bottom of ny screen.

You' ve been -- would you state and
spell your nane and tell ne what expertise you've been
adm tted before this Division?

MR. WOOD: Yes, M. Hearing Exam ner.
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Leonard Wod, L-E-O-N-A-R-D, last nanme, Wod, WO OD.
| have been admtted as a witness in the field of
geol ogy before

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: I n geol ogy.
Okay. And you're with Marathon?

MR. WOOD: | am w th Powderhorn Energy
Partners.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  You're with
Powder horn. Thank you. Al right. Thank you.
VWHEREUPOQON,

MADUABUCHI PASCAL UNMEKVE,
called as a witness and havi ng been previously duly
sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:

EXAM NATI ON

BY THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: And fi nally,

M. Pascal ?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. |'ve not -- again,
' m Pascal Unekwe. |'ve not been admtted as an
expert wtness here before. M background is -- |ike,
was nentioned earlier, | was raised in West Africa.

And ny bachelor's degree was in petrol eum engi neeri ng.
| conpleted that in 2009, and | noved to the US for ny

graduate studies still in petroleum engi neeri ng.
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So | got ny master's degree in
petrol eum engineering in the University of Alaska in
Fai rbanks. After that, | worked in the backend in the
field with Baker Hughes doi ng N\D/ LMD, so |l ogging wire
drilling stuff. Then after that, | joined
Conoco/ Phillips as a devel opnent petrol eum engi neer
doi ng devel opnent works, essentially assessing the
subsurface and drilling opportunities in the field.

So | didthat for alittle while, then
| ater on, | went off to work for the State of Al aska
where | worked as a petrol eum econom st. At the sane
time, | was doing ny graduate studies in econom cs as
well. So | worked with the State of Al aska for about
Six to seven years, where | held roles in petrol eum
econom cs. | worked as a commercial anal yst.

And in 2022, | joined ConocoPhillips
here in Mdl and working the -- the Eddy County
devel opnent, so doing essentially sub-surface
eval uations leading up to the drilling of wells,
bui |l di ng an econonm c case for wells, as well as
trades, you know, helping us to call up acreage as
wel | as divest or acquire new areas to devel op.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So M. Unmekwe,
woul d you spell your name for the record please?

DR. UMEKWE: So Unmekwe -- the |last --
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my last nane is UME-K-WE. And | go by Pascal,
which is my m ddl e nane.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Woul d you spel
I t, please?

DR.  UMEKWE: P-A-S-C A- L.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. M.
Umekwe, what does a petrol eum engi neer do?

DR. UMEKWE: A petrol eum engi neer worKks
al ongsi de, you know, geol ogists and other functions to
all ow us -- assess the viability of projects,
subsurface projects, |leading up to the production of
hydr ocar bons.

And in -- in this specific case, a
petrol eum engi neer would be evaluating the -- the
viability of different scenarios for devel opnent,
| ooking at existing data on simlar devel opnents, and
trying to assess, you know, what -- what devel opnent
style m ght be best, you know, to ensure that the
right returns are -- are generated for projects.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: How i s that
different froma reservoir engineer?

DR. UMEKWE: So a petrol eum engi neer
Is -- is a-- is a broad discipline. But what I
descri bed earlier maybe speaks nore to kind of a

reservoir engi neer and what the reservoir engineer

Page 91

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com




© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

does. But the petrol eum engineer interfaces wth,
agai n, production engineering, drilling engineering,
and different fornms of engineering.

But at the end of the day, the goal for
t he petrol eum engi neer or the reservoir engineers is
to prem se projects that all ow devel opers of that
project to -- to get adequate returns.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Perfect.
Thank you, sir. So fromhere on in, you're recognized
as an expert in petroleum engineering by this
Division. And what tine do you need to testify by?

DR. UMEKWE: Anytinme today | think is
great.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. And what
time zone are you in?

DR. UMEKME: |I'min the Mdland office.
Yes. CST, so central tine.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Very
good. You're an hour ahead of us. Okay. That's what
| wanted to know. Thank you very much. Ckay.

M. Holliday, would you like to -- oh,
one thing for both parties. Please understand, as you
can tell, both M. Fordyce and | have spent
considerable time review ng your exhibits, reading

your testinony. You do not need to repeat the sane
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t hi ngs verbatimas in the exhibits.

Pl ease have your w tnesses summari ze
their testinmony. 1In plain |anguage would be nice for
t hose of us who are not, you know, petroleum
engi neers. And al so, present your rebuttal case at
the sane tinme that you're presenting your case in
chief for each w tness.

So would you like to call M. Macha
first?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes. Powderhorn first
calls Travis Macha.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  And,

M. Holliday, are you going to be -- these are your
exhibits. So are you going to be showi ng them on the

screen? You don't have to. You certainly don't have

to, but if you want to, you have -- you can screen
share. |I'mnot telling you how to present.

MR. HOLLIDAY: No. | know.

| don't know that -- Adam would you

m nd driving the exhibits?
MR. RANKI N:  Yours?
MR. HOLLI DAY: Yeah. |'mnot sure if
" m set up for --
MR. RANKIN. |'ve got all kinds of --
MR. HOLLI DAY: Oh, do you? Ckay.
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Woul d you give us a second to confer

while we try to get the exhibits up?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | don't need the
exhi bits.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  |'m only sayi ng
if you feel the need for -- to put an exhibit on the
screen, |'mjust saying you have the capability of
screen sharing. That's all |'m saying.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Do you need -- | think

we're okay with to proceed without them And if we do
need one, we'll address it at that point.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  And we'l | deal
with it then?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yes, sir. Okay.

VHEREUPON,
TRAVI S MACHA,
called as a witness and havi ng been previously duly
sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. HOLLI DAY:

MR. HOLLI DAY: Just a few matters for
the record, M. Macha, could you please state your

name and position wth Powder horn?
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MR. MACHA: Travis Macha. |[|I'mthe Vice
Presi dent of | and.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And so to refresh the
Di vision's nenory, how |l ong have you been a petrol eum
| andman?

MR. MACHA: |It's probably about eight
to nine years at this point.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Ckay. And before this,
you were the | and manager for New Mexico at Perm an
Resources; right?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: In that role, you're
responsi ble for all the New Mexico | and operations for
Perm an Resources, which is a publicly traded conpany?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: All right. And you
prepared the self-affirmed statenent and the exhibits
are at |east at your direction?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Let's sort of start from
the top. Wen did Powderhorn first acquire its
i nterest in the Super Hornet devel opnent area?

MR. MACHA: That woul d've been -- we
closed on July 23, 2025.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And what did you do
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I mmedi ately after acquiring that acreage?

MR. MACHA: The next day, obviously, at
that point, we were -- we're a-- we're a young
operator. So we started | ooking around. W wanted to
acquire nore acreage. W wanted to work w th whoever
was in the prospective devel opnent -- devel opnment
area. So we did go ahead and reach out to
ConocoPhillips the next day on July 24th.

We sent them an email kind of giving

them notice that we will be proposing wells. We wl
be giving themcarry offers, and we'll be looking to
engage them on -- on negotiations going forward.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And when did you

first propose wells to the various work and interest

owner s?

MR. MACHA: They're date -- dated July
30th. | believe they got put in the mail on July
31st.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And those well
proposal s included AFEs and the normal --

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So after you sent
the well proposals, did you attenpt to negotiate
vol untary agreenent wi th Maraton?

MR. MACHA: The -- yeah. On July 31st,
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we did go ahead and send an email with our first carry
offer to Conoco Phillips. They did acknow edge
recei pt of that carry offer. And over the course of
August, Conoco reached out one tine and asked about
our lateral length -- length confirmation. | believe
t hat was August 13th.

They asked of why we were not i ncluding
the west half of section 3 in our plan devel opnent,
whi ch why we're not doing that is because there's an
existing Wol fcanp well in west half 3 operated by
Perm an Resources. W sat around, waited for themto
ki nd of respond and digest our carry offer. And then
we did not reengage until Septenber 5th.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. You nentioned
wai ting on responses. What -- these first initial
emai | s that you reached out to ConocoPhillips to try
to get a neeting, sonething like that, did you ever
recei ve any response whatsoever from Conoco?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. So on the July 24th
email, we did not receive a response. In --
subsequent to that, in July, | did send another emai
to the non-op supervisor at the time, and | did not
receive a response. | was requesting a neeting.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay.. And you

mentioned in your testinony that Powderhorn initially
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had applied for the October docket for the Super
Hornet case, but you held it to Novenber. Wy did you
do that?

MR. MACHA: So we -- we had the
capability of applying for the October -- October
docket. We did not apply for the October docket.

W -- when we reached out -- back out on Septenber
5th, we inquired of the -- of another neeting. W
ki nd of gave a status update. That email was al so not
responded to.

At that point, |I -- on Septenber 11th,
| reached out to another Conoco | andman and asked what
was going on, like, why were we not receiving
responses. But | did tell himthat we are | ooking
forward to negotiating with them because we do want to
br oaden our footprint.

So we did go ahead and say, "Hey, in
order to -- to have sone good faith negotiations, we
did go ahead and kick this to the Novenber 13th docket
rat her than the October docket."” At that point,
Conoco did start engaging a little bit nore.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And so that was to give
Conoco nore tinme to engage with this; correct?

MR. MACHA: That and every other party.
Ri ght, right.
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So let's talk
about -- there was a proposed trade, and that broke
down. And | think we're going to have to talk a | ot
about it today. But Ms. Klingler's testinony alleges
t hat Powder horn broadly did not engage in -- or
engaged in bad faith negotiations by offering acreage
that it did not own. Can you describe that from your
perspective?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. So just in reference
to the trade, obviously we've -- throughout 2025, we
did kind of give nmultiple offers, including a letter
of intent, with our -- with our |etterhead and ki nd of
detailed the offer structure and everyt hing.

But the trade itself, the first, how
that was -- how that started was on Decenber 19th, we
received an i nbound froma third-party group that
said -- that told us, "Hey, we have sone acreage
of fset Conoco. We just leased it. Wuld you guys be
interested in acquiring it, doing a deal, whatever you
guys want to do."

And we didn't reach back out
I medi ately. We told them we would | ook at it
candidly. There wasn't a big interest internally
originally, but they reached back out again in

January. And on January 12th, we did poke Conoco.
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And we said, "Hey, we got -- we have this acreage."

And upon verbal agreement with third
party, they allowed us to negotiate with their acreage
w th ConocoPhillips specifically. So we did say,
"Hey, Conoco, would you |like to acquire this acreage?"
We' d need some quick feedback, obviously know ng that
we didn't know what other parties that they were
shopping to or anything |ike that.

So at that point, we asked for quick
f eedback. W got a response and a formal trade offer
from Conoco on February 2nd.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And it was Conoco that
first proposed structure in the transaction as a

trade; correct?

MR. MACHA: | would say -- | would
characterize that that they -- they were the ones that
formal ly proposed the trade first we -- everything we

said was subject to eval uation.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And in your experience
as a landman, are these sorts of third-party
transactions a common course of business?

MR. MACHA: Yes. W did many
transactions like this at Perm an Resources with ne
specifically.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And how long was this
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third-party acreage under discussion with Marathon
before the deal fell through?

MR. MACHA: So they reached back out on
February 2nd. |Immediately upon |earning they were
I nterested, we reached back out to the third party to
see if they were interested. | think, at the tine,

t hey were on vacation, so we did not receive an
| edi at e response.

And then on February 6th, they
responded that there was an alternative route that
they had to pursue. And at that point in tinme, our
CEO did i nform Conoco that the trade was no | onger
vi abl e.

MR. HOLLI DAY: So a period of about
four or five days?

MR. MACHA: Four days.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Four days. Okay. So
after this, did Conoco -- or excuse ne -- Marathon,
did they term nate negotiations with Powderhorn? Did
they end at that point?

MR. MACHA: No. We continued to
di scuss carry options.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And how long was it
before Conoco finally informed you that it wasn't

seeking any sort of nutual agreenent or deal ?
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MR. MACHA: So we just started
di scussing carry options, if | renmenber correct, on
February 10th. That -- that was the next Tuesday and
then nultiple phone calls since then. Between then
and February 20th is when they formally term nated
negoti ati ons.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So during that tine
peri od and before they term nated negotiations with
you, Conoco had already sent its one-mle proposals to
Kai ser-Francis; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Did Conoco or
Mar at hon -- did they send those sane well proposals to
Powder horn at that tinme?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And Powderhorn is a
party also to the JOA through anot her working
interest; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. So at any point
during this seven nonths fromJuly all the way to
February, did Powderhorn ever take this deal off the
table or any sort of term nation of negotiations?

MR. MACHA: No. W -- we remain --

remai ned before we proposed the wells to February 20th
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that we wanted to do a deal
MR. HOLLIDAY: All right. | want to

turn to the steps you guys have taken to prepare for

devel opnent. Can you just summari ze what Powder horn
has done to get ready to drill these Super Hornet
wel | s?

MR. MACHA: So on the |and side, as
menti oned, you know, one of ny primary jobs is to not
only acquire acreage, but it is to put units together.
So fromJuly of last year, we started acquiring
acreage. We started the conpul sory pooling process.

We started the -- we started working
with surveying groups. W did do the pre-approval for
t he New Mexico Comrunitization Agreenent and we did
get our water contract in place. W have kicked off
active negotiations for oil and gas takeaway. And we
have staked the wells.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Do you think that
acquiring APDs would be a time constraint in this
proj ect?

MR. MACHA: No. | don't.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And what's your
antici pated spud date?

MR. MACHA: As of right now, we're
| ooki ng around Septenber 2026, but anywhere in Q@3, .
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And that is at
| east partially because you have a term assi gnnment
with an expiration date; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So if Powderhorn cannot
commence operations before that date, what happens to
your interest?

MR. MACHA: We stand at risk of
expiring and losing it.

MR. HOLLIDAY: All right. So let's
tal k about the working interest in the unit. What is
Powder horn's working interest in the proposed 9607

MR. MACHA: Across the entire 9607
About 34 percent work interest.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And if we were to |unp
in the total working interest that's conmmtted to your
pl an, what nunber does that cone to?

MR. MACHA: It's about 78 percent.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So do you have an
interest in every track either owned or commtted?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLIDAY: All right. And if we
| ook just to the north half of section 2, that's the
mai n subj ect of this debate today. What is

Powder horn's comm tted net acreage in the north half
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of section 2 that is subject to the 1976 JOA?

MR. MACHA: I'm-- | think our title
versus Conoco's title was a little bit, |ike,
di fferent between a couple percent, but we are | ooking
at around 160 acres, so roughly 50 percent. | think
they' re probably pegging it closer to 45 percent.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So fair to say 45
to 50 percent?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And then that's
Kai ser-Francis. So the Kaiser-Francis, who's the
| ar gest non-operated working interest owner under that
JOA -- let's just call it 47 percent, split the
baby -- they did sign a superseding JOA with
Powder horn; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And at this tinme, is
ConocoPhillips the sole party objecting to your
application?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So let's go -- let's
| ook at that JOA for a second, or at l|least, let's just
tal k about it. Marathon's objection to your
application, it's based on this JOA from 1976. Are

you famliar wth that JOA?
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MR. MACHA: Yes. |'ve reviewed it.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And that's a Form 610,
which at that tine, was designed for vertical wel
operations; right?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. It's a 1956 form

MR. HOLLI DAY: 1956. So to your
know edge, does that JOA even contenplate hori zont al
devel opnent ?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And then to your
know edge, in 1976, was horizontal devel opnment
occurring in the Northern Del aware Basin in the
approxi mate area of this project?

MR. MACHA: G ven ny | and background,
can't give you definitive, but | do not believe so.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And how many
wel I's have been drilled under that JOAin its 50 year
hi story?

MR. MACHA: One.

MR. HOLLIDAY: One well. Is that the
initial well?

MR. MACHA: That was the initial well.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And that's a vertical
wel | ?

MR. MACHA: It's a vertical well
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drilled I believe in 1976. The OCD record says spud
in 1974, but | assume that's incorrect.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So nothing in 50
years. And so that means no Wbl fcanmp's ever been
drilled under that JOA?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: No horizontal well of
any ki nd?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Now, despite this JOA,
Conoco or Marathon originally proposed a one and a
half m | e devel opnent plan; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: But then they rescinded
It and replaced it with the one mle plan we're
tal ki ng about today; is that right?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. All right. M.
Macha, are you famliar with the Fiero case in order
nunber 238697

MR. MACHA: Yes, | am

MR. HOLLI DAY: And in that case, the
Di vi si on approved conpul sory pooling over the
obj ection of an operator that clainmed a hundred

percent working interest control under a | egacy JOA.
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s that a fair summry?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: All right. Do you think
the facts in this case are substantially simlar to
those in the Fiero case?

MR. MACHA: | would agree with that.
Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And you're also famliar
with order nunmber R14140, the Matador case nunber 157

MR. MACHA: Not as intimate with that
one, but vyes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And that's the
case that the Fiero order cites as precedent for his
decision; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Let's talk about
sonme of that overl apping acreage. The JOA, as we
di scussed, covers north half section 2. And that's
about one-third of the acreage within the proposed
Super Hornet spacing; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: |Is that simlar in size
to the JOA overlap that was at consideration -- under
consideration in Fiero?

MR. MACHA: Yes. Mnor -- yeah. A
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mnority share.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Now, one of the -- one

of the issues that we've brought up or that's been

brought up in this case -- we certainly didn't bring

it up -- is operator experience, your experience,

Powder horn's experience as a team You guys haven't

drilled a well
previously dril

that correct?

yet. So they argued that you haven't

| ed a horizontal well in New Mexico; iIs

MR. MACHA: That is correct.
MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. But you guys have

been part of horizontal devel opnment each in your own

respective backgrounds; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.
MR. HOLLI DAY: How many wells do you

think you assisted with in your tinme at Perm an

Resour ces?

oper at or experi
of | abel about

t hat canme -- di

MR MACHA: So | -- the -- on the
ence exhibit that we cite, we did kind
a thousand plus between our group. And

d cone from an exact kind of tenure of

tine between us and New Mexi co. So between all of us,

about a thousand. | don't renenmber ne specifically,

but it was consi der abl e.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Can you -- do you recal
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approxi mately how many rigs were under your direction
froma | and perspective?

MR. MACHA: Upwards of seven.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Upwards of seven. You
tal k about a couple units in your testinony, the Bat
Bomb and the War Pigeon units. In terns of operator
experience, why are those units relevant to our
heari ng today?

MR. MACHA: So those two units are one
mle directly to the east. |'mnot going to speak to
geol ogy or reservoir engineering, but "closeol ogy, "
they're very simlar. So Conoco and those units had
the vast majority of the working interest.

And they did entrust an operator that
had never drilled a well in the state of New Mexico to
t ake over operations of those units. So -- and so
characterizing us as inexperienced and to to be
disqualified for that same reason seens w ong.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. So there's recent
precedent from Marathon for entrusting its acreage to
an operator who has not drilled a well in New Mexico.
Is that a fair summry?

MR. MACHA: That's fair.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And you guys

actually -- you nentioned you tried to have a neeting.
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There was a neeting scheduled on the 4th. It got
canceled. And that was going to be a technical
neeting so that you guys could present your experience
and plans to Conoco; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. W were going to
bring our entire technical teamas well as kind of
the -- our kind of devel opnent strategy and everything
to that February 4th neeti ng.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So as a -- you know, if
we get into technical a little bit, you know, as a
| andman, is there anything you wanted to -- response
you wanted to give to Marathon's parent/child wel
degradati on argunents?

MR. MACHA: No. | -- I'"myour -- part
of that for -- reservoir.

MR. HOLLI DAY: You're not a reservoir
engi neer; correct?

MR, MACHA: No.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Al right. So M.
Rankin raised a couple things. Well, first, let's
back up and tal k about NSL permts. Does Powderhorn
intend to seek NSL permts allowing it to anend the
330 offset rule?

MR. MACHA: W intend to.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Ckay. And then is that,
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I n your experience, a normal adm nistrative procedure
pursued by nost operators devel oping the Wl fcam?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Al right. |
want to turn to the northeast quarter of section 3 and
the stranding -- potential stranding issue.

M. Rankin raised an issue with potential stranding of
t he northeast quarter, or we raised it. But he had
sone concerns about it. Do you think you could
clarify Powderhorn's argunent with regard to the
northeast quarter section 3?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. |'mnot going to
make a orientation argunment there. But what | wll

say is that in the east half of section 3 and the

south half of -- of section 2, there are owners that
excl ude Marathon. They do not own in those -- those
ar eas.

And prior to the one mle well
proposal, Powderhorn and Avant agreed via letter
agreenment on how to develop that mle and a half. And
at this point, it's an agreenent that's been signed.
So that northeast quarter of section 3 would be
excluded fromthat devel opnent.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So fair to say, if your

application's denied, you' re going to be contractually
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prohi bited from devel opi ng the northeast quarter?
A As it sits. Correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: As it stands now. And
If -- okay. Think of that. And who owns the m neral
I nterest under section 37

MR. MACHA: State of New Mexico owns a
hundred percent of east half of three and all of 2.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And WMar at hon, they
dism ss their conpeting pooling applications. W
covered that; correct?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: So they're not asking
the Division to approve any alternative devel opnent
plan. What they're asking the Division to do is deny
yours and | eave the north half of section 2 entirely
subject to their private JOA; is that correct? Wth
no Division oversight as to the timng of devel opnent?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And there's no
party under that nmechani sm outside of the contractual
rights under the JOA. There's no division-enforceable
mechanismto conpel devel opnent of that acreage?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So in your

opinion -- or is it your opinion that Powderhorn's
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application, if approved, will prevent waste to
protect correlative rights of all interest owners
i ncludi ng the State of New Mexico?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Just a couple nore
guestions, then I'lI|l pass the witness. So based on
your experience and just to sumup, your famliarity
wth this acreage, the steps you' ve taken for the past
seven, eight nonths, do you have an opinion as to
whet her the Division should approve your application
in case 256107

MR. MACHA: Yeah. Li ke | say, | think
that we've nade a pretty legally conplete argunent
here. Everything' s being developed in a prudent
manner. The NSL application's obviously -- or we're
not going to be discussing it today, but they wll
beconme -- we'll cone back for those. Yeah. | -- |I'm
very confident in -- in this pooling strategy.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. |Is there anything
el se in your testinony or your exhibits that you woul d
li ke to cover that we haven't covered yet?

MR. MACHA: | don't think so.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Thanks.

| pass the wtness.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Cr oss-
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exam nati on?

MR. RANKIN. Thank you,

M. Hearing Oficer.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, RANKI N

MR. RANKIN. Good afternoon, M. Macha.
How are you today?

MR. MACHA: Good. How are you?

MR. RANKIN: It's unusual for us to be
on the other side of this procedure, but neverthel ess
here we are. Atarting off, I'mgoing to ask you about
wel | proposals.

So you nentioned in your operating
sunmary that Powderhorn sent out well proposals back
in July, at the very end of July 2025. And |I'm going
to go ahead and share ny screen because it's just
easier to walk through the exhibits when I'm-- we can
tal k through themdirectly. So I think this Exhibit
A-16 is your well proposal that went out; correct --
for these wells that issued today?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And they were
i ssued there -- it was signed by -- Mason Maxwel | was
a | andman; correct?

MR. MACHA: That 1s correct.
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MR. RANKIN: And what's his role with
t he conpany?

MR. MACHA: He's the | andman.

MR. RANKIN: And so what was his role
in the proposal of this -- these wells?

MR. MACHA: Me and Mason col | aborate on
this stuff together. W built the well proposals side
by si de.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So was he
i nvol ved -- he was also involved in the negotiations
over this proposal ?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And the well
proposal includes eight wells; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And four wells in the
upper -- I'mgoing to call it the upper Wl fcanp, the
Wol f canp XY Sand; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That's | think generally
correct. Yeah.

MR. RANKIN: And then there's four
additional wells for the Wl fcanp -- Powderhorn's
calling it the Wil fcamp B. |Is that correct as well?

MR. MACHA: Yes. That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: And -- but in the
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application for pooling, Powderhorn has only
identified for initial wells as part of its
application; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And that's the -- those
are the Wol fcamp XY Wells; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And because of -- because
those are the only four wells in the pooling
appl i cati on, Powderhorn would be limted to drilling
those four wells initially and conpleting those wells
before it could drill any additional wells as part of
the unit; correct?

MR. MACHA: We would be foll ow ng OCD
standard. Yes.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So each of those
four -- all four wells would have to be drilled and

conpl eted before you could come back and conpl ete or

even drill or propose any subsequent well; correct?
MR. MACHA: Yeah. | believe that we
woul d be technically allowed to drill them but not

propose themuntil after conpletion of the first
initial wells. Not that we would do that, but just
nuance. Yeah.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Now, is Powderhorn
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commtted to drilling all four if its proposed
Wbl fcamp B wells, the subsequent wells?

MR. MACHA: |'mgoing to defer to our
techni cal guys, but yes. That's -- that is current
pl an.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. Now, in your --
just for purposes of clarification, in your
statenment -- |'Ill go paragraph 10 of your statenent.
|"ve got it highlighted here in 10 -- in purple. You
state that "Powderhorn proposes to fully devel op the
Wbl fcamp with its four one and a half mle wells.” Is
that a correct understandi ng of your statenent there?

MR. MACHA: | guess that that could be
construed as Wolfcanp A. | think the intent of that
statenment would be to fully devel op as per the order
recei ved.

MR. RANKIN: But you're not saying that
those four wells will fully develop the entire
Wl f canp; correct?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. RANKIN: You're saying that it's
going to fully develop that bench. |Is that fair?

MR. MACHA: That is a fair statenent.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. And that's why you
need to cone back and drill the Wl fcamp B; right?
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MR. MACHA: At |east. Yeah.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Now, on the -- just
a couple smaller issues I'mgoing to walk through with
you. In your -- one of your land charts where you
show the working interests and you show t he wor ki ng
I nterest breakdown, this is one where | think is the
overview for the whole spacing unit. You identify a
conpany, PBX LLC as owni ng approximately 35 percent in
a tract in the south half of the proposed spacing
unit; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And you state here
that they -- you identify themon a -- on title but
that they're not -- and they're listed as an
unconm tted interest; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: But they have not been
provi ded notice of the hearing; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: | believe they were
provided notice. |'mnot sure. But |I've corresponded

wth the director over there greatly on this exact

I ssue of the title. | think it's probably just
weird -- a weird title issue that -- where we need to
cl ean up.

MR. RANKIN: So whether or not they
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were provided notice, it would be of record in the

exhi bits provided by Powderhorn to the Division;

correct?
MR. MACHA: That should be the case.
MR. RANKIN: Okay. And so rather than
spending tinme to do that, | nean, the record speaks

for itself. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agreed.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But neverthel ess,
they're an unconmtted party as we sit here today;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct. And we are not
seeking to pool them

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So but you sit --
as you sit here today, you can't tell nme whether or
not they were given notice of the application or the
pool i ng; correct?

MR MACHA: [|I'm-- like | say, I'm
not -- |'mnot sure, but they were -- they were
recei pt recipients of the initial well proposals and
the initial application. |I'mpretty certain of that.

MR. RANKIN: So just to be clear,
they -- you did send them well proposals back in July
of 20257

MR. MACHA: That's correct.
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MR. RANKIN: Okay. Did you have any
foll ow-up discussions with them about their position?

MR. MACHA: Yes. So they -- they were
one with -- we are in negotiations with. W
originally just were hoping to just get themcommtted
to a JOA because they're historically not sellers.
They kind -- | think that they're pretty active, kind
of simlar to us and to -- they just want to put
doll ars to worKk.

And so we negotiated with themfor a
brief time. They did indicate they were going to
transact and sell. They did sell to Avant. So when
| -- so the intent in all of the comrunications that
|"ve had with PBX is that they've sold 100 percent of
their interest in the Super Hornet Unit to Avant.

Qur title, like | say, per the
asterisk, still showed themwith the 14 acres in that
sout hwest of the southeast corner of section 2 that is
not included in a Marathon's unit. So that's why |
wanted to be open and transparent, include it on this
exhi bit.

MR. RANKIN: VWhen did they sell their
i nterest to Avant?

MR. MACHA: Oh, | don't think they

closed until maybe January, but | think that that
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negoti ati on was nore conpl ete around Cctober.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So if there was any
record title conveyed or filed with the county, it
woul dn't have happened until after they closed; right?

MR. MACHA: That would be correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And basically, as
you sit here today, you think it was nore -- nost
likely in the tinmeframe of January 20267

MR. MACHA: | believe so, but | don't
have perfect recollection of that.

MR. RANKIN: But as of the tine that
Powder horn filed this pooling application, PBX was the
owner of that interest?

MR. MACHA: When we filed originally in

Septenber, | believe, for the Novenber docket? Yes.
MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. |'mgoing to nove
over to the topic of Powderhorn as a -- and its

experience as an entity. Just to clarify again,
Powder horn does not currently operate any wells in New
Mexi co. Agree?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And Powder horn has not
drilled any vertical wells in New Mexico? Agree?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And Powder horn has not
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drilled any horizontal wells in New Mexico? Agree?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: And Powder horn doesn't
have an in-house drilling teamcurrently. Agree?

MR. MACHA: That -- we have in-house
petrol eum engi neers. We do not have an in-house
drilling teamif that is defined.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So you agree wth
me, based on your own understandi ng, that Powderhorn
does not itself have an in-house drilling teanf
Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agreed.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And do you have an

i n-house drilling engi neer who over -- who would
oversee any drilling?
MR. MACHA: |'Il defer to our -- ny

engi neer, but | don't believe there's a degree for

it -- for drilling engineering. Petroleum engineering
degree does cover drilling.

MR. RANKIN. Say that again. |'m
sorry. | mssedit.

MR. MACHA: Petrol eum engi neering
degree woul d cover drilling.
MR. RANKIN: But | mean, | guess ny

question is does Powder horn have soneone assi gned who
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Is in charge of -- responsible for overseeing its
drilling operations?

MR. MACHA: We're all responsible of
numer ous things, so | would say yes.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. So there is one
I ndi vi dual at Powderhorn who is assigned the
obligation to coordi nate and oversee when drilling
occurs?

MR. MACHA: | would say they -- we wll
have to be coordinating with our contractors. But
yes. They wll be overseeing the drilling activities.

MR. RANKIN: \Who is that?

MR. MACHA: | would -- | would point to
Brendan Ti ppen.

MR. RANKIN. To answer that question or
to tell me who the --

MR. MACHA: To answer that questi on.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. So turning to

Brendan's -- M. Tippen's rebuttal testinony,
paragraph 7 -- 1've hided the | anguage here in his
rebuttal. He says that Powderhorn has -- we -- he's

responding to Marathon's objection or concerns that
Powder horn had not yet identified a reliable tested
outside drilling contractor.

And then he goes on to say "They're
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uncertain about the basis for the assertion.”™ And he
goes -- then he states that "W ve been tal king and
exploring options with drilling contractors since My
of 2025."

He goes on to say "As it relates to
this unit, we have been working with a contractor that
has drilled wells in the last year within two mles of
the unit." Are you famliar with this testinony of
his on rebuttal ?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN:. Do you -- okay. So just

to be clear, are you aware, as of this tinme -- and
again, you can tell me to talk to M. Tippen -- but
whet her Powder horn has identified an outside drilling
contractor to drill these wells?

MR. MACHA: So as per his testinony,
there is a conpany that we've been consulting wth
that drilled the Bat Bonb and War Pigeon units that --
t hat Conoco farnmed out to another operator.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And when you say

"working with," are they under -- you have entered

a -- like, some sort of contract or agreenent? Are

they designated to drill these wells if and when?
MR. MACHA: 1'Ill defer to Brendan on

t he specifics of any agreenent because |I'mnot in the

Page 125

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com




© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

techni cal conversations right there, but --

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And are you aware
whet her, during the discussions or negotiations with
Mar at hon, Powder horn has ever disclosed who it was
working with to do this work?

MR. MACHA: W had that fully prepared
and laid out for the February 4th neeting.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But during the
I nformal di scussi ons, when these things were
di scussed, are you aware of any tinme at which
Powder horn i nformed Marathon --

MR. MACHA: They never asked.

MR. RANKIN: O who the drilling

contractor was going to be or who you were you worKki ng

with?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. RANKIN: Sorry. Sorry.

MR. MACHA: No. They didn't -- never
asked.

THE REPORTER: Gentlenen, this is the
reporter. | apologize for interrupting, but if you

could wait to respond to questions until the question
I s done.
MR. RANKIN:. Sonetinmes | throw a pause

in there. And | -- and this Travis knows, so |
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apologize. | try to get it all out. Ckay.
BY MR. RANKI N

MR. RANKIN. On the drilling contractor
I ssue, during the informal discussions, to your
know edge, you're not aware of Marathon asking that
guestion of anybody at Powderhorn; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: |'m not aware.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. Now, during your
summary of your case, M. Holliday asked you about,
you know, your team s experience drilling and
operating. And | think the way he phrased the
question was that each in -- under their own
respective backgrounds have had experience drilling
wel | separately; correct?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. RANKI N: But in terns of a team
has Powderhorn -- because it's never drilled a
hori zontal well as an entity, has it ever drilled a
well as a teanf

MR. MACHA: As an entity? No.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And has Powder horn
ever worked with this drilling contractor that you

referenced that you're working with currently? Has it

ever worked with that drilling contractor as a teanf
MR. MACHA: | would defer to the
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definition of "working with." W've never drilled a
well with them

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So Powderhorn as an
entity and as a team has never drilled a well with
this outside contractor; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: So you nentioned a
contractor that ConocoPhillips engaged with that has
no drilling experience in New Mexico. Do you recal
that testinony?

MR. MACHA: Sorry. Can repeat?

MR. RANKIN: Yeah. That ConocoPhilli ps
had engaged with a drilling conpany to -- that has
never drilled a well in New Mexico. Do you recal
that testinony of yours?

MR. MACHA: It wasn't a drilling
company. It was a separate operator.

MR. RANKI N: Separate operator?

MR. MACHA: Simlar to Powderhorn.

MR. RANKIN:. Do you know yourself
whet her peopl e at Marat hon and ConocoPhillips have had
experience working with that operator as a teamin
Texas?

MR. MACHA: |'m not aware.

MR. RANKIN: So you don't know whet her
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they've drilled multiple wells or what the extent of
their experience drilling wells with this operator in

Texas has been; correct?

MR. MACHA: | don't have direct
know edge.

MR. RANKIN: Does Powderhorn have any
experience with this outside contractor drilling any

wells in Texas?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. RANKIN: I n any other place?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. | think |
understand you to basically defer all discussions
about parent/child testinony to M. Tippen; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yeah.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. On your direct
testinony, you testified about ConocoPhillips's
activity in the area. And again, just to be clear,
the operator here that's contesting Powderhorn's case
i's Marathon; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct. | -- | do define
Conoco COP in ny original testinony as bei ng Marat hon
Ql.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And that's because

Mar at hon is now a wholly owned subsidiary of
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ConocoPhi | I'i ps; correct?
MR. MACHA: Correct.
MR. RANKIN:. And are you aware when
t hat transacti on took place?
MR. MACHA: | don't renenber.
MR. RANKIN:. Five years ago, eight
years ago, nore recently than that?
MR. MACHA: More recently than that.
MR. RANKIN: Okay. So I'mgoing to --

let's ook at your testinony in paragraph 12 -- |I'm
sorry -- in paragraph 18. Sorry. You talk here
about -- and |I've highlighted a, a provision or a
statenment here that ConocoPhillips has been primarily

I nactive in terns of operations in the area for the

| ast ei ght years.

So you're not aware when -- did prior
to ConocoPhillips's acquisition of Marathon in this
acreage, did ConocoPhillips own any acreage in this
area?

MR. MACHA: |'m not aware.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And so you don't
have in your m nd exactly how recently it was that
ConocoPhi |l I'i ps actually acquired Marathon interest?

MR. MACHA: No. Yeah.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And so you can't --
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you're not sitting here today telling ne that
ConocoPhi Il i ps owned this acreage and then me -- this
contested acreage or the offsetting acreage prior to
Its acquisition of Marathon; correct?

MR. MACHA: No. |I'mnot testifying to
t hat .

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, I'mgoing to
go to one of your exhibits on the sane topic here.
And again, you're tal king about ConocoPhillips's
activity in this acreage. And | think the point of

this slide is to make the point that in your view,

rat her than devel oping this acreage, ConocoPhillips is
I nstead divesting it. |Is that the point of this
slide?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. | would say that's
fair.

MR. RANKIN: And you give three
exanples. And you've | abeled them A B, and C. And
my question to you is, what are you -- what does
di vesting or divestnent nean to you?

MR. MACHA: |t means bequeat hi ng
operatorship in this scenario.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. |In this scenario.
So it's not -- you're not tal king about selling or

tradi ng out or |eaving the property; correct?
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MR. MACHA: No. And just for -- just
for clarification, A was a term assignnent for
Mar at hon. B and C were devel opnment agreenents, which
seened to be characterized as farnout agreenents.

MR. RANKIN:  And your know edge of
those or the terns of those agreenents or how invol ved
ConocoPhi Il i ps or Marathon was in those agreenents is
solely based on public records; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: So you have no idea how
i nvol ved ConocoPhillips was in the devel opnent of that
acreage in ternms of planning, assessing, evaluating,
targeting, any of that?

MR. MACHA: No. |[|'m |l ooking at public
record.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So all you -- and
all you know is what's in the public record and
not hi ng that went behind the scenes or how actually
i nvol ved ConocoPhillips or Marathon was in those
acres; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And based on your
definition of divestnent, neaning, |ike, you would get
anot her operator to drill for you, isn't that what

Powder horn is considering to do here in its proposed
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acreage?

MR. MACHA: No. We -- we would be the
cost-bearing interest owner being the operator.

That's what | nean, bearing the cost, not a drilling
contractor.

MR. RANKIN: And again, you don't know
exactly what the relationship is behind the scenes
bet ween ConocoPhillips and the operator drilling
the -- this acreage other than what's reported in
public record; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But you agree with
me that as to the A, B, and C on your slide here,
ConocoPhillips did not sell out its interest? Agree?

MR. MACHA: No. Not a hundred percent.

MR. RANKIN: Didit trade out its
I nterest?

MR. MACHA: Not that | can see, no.

MR. RANKIN:. |'mgoing to ask you about
this question of stranding the acres in the northeast
quarter of section 3. |In paragraph 11 and then
t hr oughout your exhibits, you nmake the assertion that
the acreage will be stranded if Marathon's devel opnent
goes forward; correct?

VR. MACHA: Correct.
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MR. RANKIN: And we | earned today for
the first tinme, because you don't say it in your
direct testinony and you don't say it in your rebuttal
testinony, that the -- so the reason for that
potential stranding is because Powderhorn made a
contractual agreenment with another entity; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: So it has nothing to do
with geology. It has nothing to do with engi neeri ng.
It has everything to do with Powder horn's business
decision with a third party; correct?

MR. MACHA: | wll defer to geol ogy on
orientation and anything |ike that. But yes. That
agreenent was negoti ated predom nantly prior to
Mar at hon's one m | e proposal.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And okay. So
that -- now, you're aware -- you're famliar with the
direct testinony that was filed by Powderhorn in this
case; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: And you reviewed the
testi nony of your geol ogist?

MR. MACHA: For the nost part? Yeah.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Are you aware of

your geol ogi st maki ng any statenents about the
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preferred orientation in this acreage in his direct
testi nony?

MR MACHA: |I'mnot. | can't speak
directly. [I'mnot that intimte with it.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But to your
know edge, did he make a statenment affirmatively one
way or the other about a preferred orientation?

MR. MACHA: Not to ny know edge. No.

MR. RANKIN: But for the agreenent with
Avant that you announced to us today, is there
anything to your know edge preventing Powder horn from
devel opi ng a standup well in east half of section 3?

MR. MACHA: | nean, at that -- that
point, it would be a contested hearing with Avant and
contractual issues and | think lawsuit. | don't know.
| -- that -- that's an issue.

MR. RANKIN: So there's outside
contractual issues that conplicate Powderhorn's
ability to do that. And then ny question to you is,
but for that agreenent, to your know edge, is there
anyt hing preventing Powderhorn from doing a standup
well in the east half of section 3?

MR. MACHA: |If we are talking about a
hypot heti cal scenari o where that agreenent never

existed, | would be confortable with my ability to
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formthat unit north south.

MR. RANKIN:  You woul d be what?

MR. MACHA: | would -- | would be
confortable being able to formthat unit north, south.

MR. RANKIN: Right. Because when you
| ook around, including in your Exhibit A-8, there's a
variety of well orientations imrediately offsetting,
stand up, lay dowm. And in fact, in your testinony,
you identify Mewbourne as an offsetting operator. And
I n your exhibit, you show that they have future
pl anned | aydown and standup wells that they plan to
devel op si nul taneously. Agree?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And in your
rebuttal statenent, M. Macha, you don't raise the
strandi ng argunent again. Do you?

MR. MACHA: |'m not sure. | don't
remenber.

MR. RANKIN: In your rebuttal ?

MR. MACHA: | don't think that there
was anything to rebut at that point.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So you didn't raise
it in your rebuttal statenent that we filed. But you
did raise it in your summary today, bringing forth new

I nfformati on about the contractor agreenent that
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Powder horn had made with Avant; correct? What is --
when was that agreenent made with Avant?

MR. MACHA: |t was negotiated. Onh, |
don't -- | have to |look at the tineline. Feel |ike
the | ast week has been long. We signed it -- | think
the day the the 2nd of March. So we negotiated the
week -- the week before.

MR. RANKIN: Got it. So that was part
of the deal that resolved your conflict with Avant,
especially as to the south half; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKI N: Okay. Now, is that an
agreenent that was involving land title? Was it filed
of record, or will it be filed of record?

MR. MACHA: There will be things filed
of record later potentially, but it does contain
confidentiality |anguage.

MR. RANKIN:. Well, that was ny next
guestion. So it got -- it has confidential
provi si ons? Ckay.

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Now, | may conme back to

the NSL issue later, but 1'"'mgoing to skip it from

now. |'mgoing to nove into the ownership contro
topic. I1'mgoing to go back to your working interest
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breakdown. This is the first one. | think you've got
two different breakdowns. [|'mgoing to address this
first one.

M. Hearing Oficer?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Yes.

MR. RANKIN: It just occurred to ne
that | didn't actually keep track of when | started,
but | think probably now m ght be a good tine to take
a short break if we were to take --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | think it's a
great idea. Five m nutes?

MR. RANKIN: Five mnutes wll do.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. We're off
t he record.

(OFf the record.)

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: It is 3:19 p.m
We're back on the record.

And, M. Rankin, go right ahead.

BY MR, RANKI N:

MR. RANKIN. Ckay, M. Macha. ['m
going to ask you a couple questions now about the
working interests that you reflect in your exhibits
and testinony. |I'magoing to start off at your Exhibit
A-10 as part of your direct case. And |I'mgoing to

ask you just to confirmthat the ownership breakdown
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that you reflect here on a tract and unit basis in
this exhibit is for Powderhorn's entire proposed
spacing unit. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And it's based on
record title ownership, not contractual interest.
Agree?

MR. MACHA: That is correct. W --

MR. RANKIN: In other words, it was
what was filed in the county records; right?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Now, you're show ng that
Powder horn owns 5.01 net acres in one of the tracts;
correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN:. And that's tract 2 on your
ownership tract on the next page; correct? VWich is
green?

MR. MACHA: Yep. Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And that's
Powder horn's only working interest ownership in the
north half of section 2; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Correct?

MR. MACHA: That is our -- that is our
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own working interest. Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And that was
acquired in Septenber of 2025 from VATEX; correct?

MR. MACHA: VATEX, | believe. But vyes.

MR. RANKIN: VATEX is how -- okay.
VATEX -- and that interest originally derived fromthe
Price famly; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And that Price
interest is conmtted to Marathon's JOA in the north
hal f of section 2? Agree?

MR. MACHA: When we acquired it? Yes.
They didn't have a copy. But after receiving a copy
of the JOA, | agree that it was comm tted.

MR. RANKIN: And it's -- it remins
commtted; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. Now, you said that
you didn't have a copy of the JOA at the tine you
acquired that interest; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN. And when | say "you," |
mean Powder horn?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. Were you aware at
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the time that you acquired the interest that it was
subject to a JOA?

MR. MACHA: There was a JOA as
referenced in -- in assignnments. It didn't say how
big it was or what it -- where -- what it covered.

But yes. There was a JOA

MR. RANKIN. So you knew at the tinme of
t he purchase that it was subject to a JOA. You just
didn't have the JOA docunent in front of you; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So you were aware
at the tinme of you acquired it that it was going to be
a commtted interest, it was going to be already
subject to a JOA. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Sone sort. Yes.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. But -- and you
didn't know at the time that it was Marathon's JOA

| s that what you're telling ne?

MR. MACHA: Not really. No. | didn't.
| knew in -- Marathon operated the well. | nmean, the
automatic assunption is that yes. It was a Mrathon

JOA, but | didn't know what lands it covered, if it
was di fferent spacing, or what it was.
MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So at the tine you

acquired it, though, you agree that you knew it was a
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Mar at hon JOA? You just didn't know what acreage was
bei ng covered?

MR. MACHA: | think I would agree with
that. Yeah.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. And again, that was
acqui red back in Septenber 2025. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. Now, you have
anot her breakout of ownership interests on your
Exhibit A-11. And this is a little bit different.

And | think it has a title apples to apples. But it's
not quite apples to apples because you're including
still portions of section 3 in your breakout; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN. And when | think of apples
to apples, if | were conparing Marathon's devel opnent
pl an to Powder horn's devel opnent plan, | would' ve
excl uded section 3. Wuld -- do you understand why
" m saying that?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. | think ny logic was
| just didn't see the option of stranding the
nort heast of 3.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Because at the tine
you filed these exhibits, you would' ve al ready made

t hat contractual agreenent with a |ot where you were
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bound to include that section 3 as part of any
hori zontal devel opnent; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. All right. Now,
|"mgoing to talk to you a little bit nore about this
VATEX. I'mgoing to call it VATEX. |'mgoing to have
a hard time. |Is it VATEX? |s that what you said?

MR. MACHA: |'m not sure. But yeah.

MR. RANKIN:. VATEX. Okay. |[|'m going
to ask you a little nore about the VATEX term
assignment. | think you' ve got an exhibit that
outlines much of the sort of publicly avail able
details of that termassignnment. |Is that fair to say?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: So Exhibit A-12 is a
sunmary of this term assignment deal that Powder horn
made wi th VATEX; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. RANKIN. And just for purposes of
everyone's edification, tell me if you agree that
generally a term assignnment requires the asignee to
perfect sone obligation to earn the interest in the
termassignment. |Is that a fair representation?

MR. MACHA: That's fair.

MR. RANKI N: So as it stands right now,
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VATEX still owns the working interest, but Powderhorn
has the right to perfect sonme action to earn whatever
I nterest has been agreed to. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agreed.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And there's a
deadline on that; right?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: And the deadline is March
1, 2027. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agreed.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Now, you've
outlined on this exhibit the territory or acreage
that's included within that term assignnment; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: And that's the blue dash
line; is that correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So as | understand
it, based on the public records, that Powderhorn woul d
need to drill one well and -- for it to be conpleted

anywhere within the dash bl ue acreage; is that

correct?
MR. MACHA: | would say subject to the
Pugh clauses in that -- in that term assi gnnment, |
don't recall off the top of ny head. But | -- |'m not
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sure if we have to drill off -- | mean, we have to
drill our entire Super Hornet's facing unit as
proposed to perfect the full-term assi gnnent.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So just -- and just
to be clear, it could be anybody that drills the well;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: It doesn't have to be
Powder horn that drills a well?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN:. But you're telling ne that
you believe that there are Pugh clauses in the term
assignnment that would essentially, if you don't drill
acreage, that acreage gets excluded. You don't earn
it; correct?

MR. MACHA: | believe that's the case.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. But you're not sure
as you sit here?

MR. MACHA: We did it six nonths ago.
| haven't reviewed it in depth since.

MR. RANKIN: And as far as the public
record is concerned, do you know if the publicly
avai | abl e docunents include any reference to a Pugh
clause or if that would just be in the --

MR. MACHA: Should just be a
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menor andum

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And do you know if
t he menorandum i ncl udes any reference to a Pugh
cl ause?

MR. MACHA: | don't believe so.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So |ooking at the
public records, nobody would know whet her or not
there's an obligation to drill up the whol e acreage or
I f there's any Pugh clauses that govern; correct?

MR. MACHA: That's correct. Speaking
for -- fromland, | would say that it's fairly inplied
w th nodern term assi gnnents.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. |Is there any
requirement for a certain length of well to be drilled
under this agreenent?

MR. MACHA: That | know for sure, which
IS a no.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So a one-mle well
woul d satisfy the term assignment. Agree?

MR. MACHA: In theory? Yes.

MR RANKIN: Well, | don't nmean in
t heory, but based on your understandi ng of the
agreenent, would a one-mle well satisfy the term
assi gnnment ?

MR. MACHA: Fromny -- ny recollection,
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yes.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So would a single
well drilled in the south half earn Powderhorn all the
acreage in the south half of section 2?

MR. MACHA: | believe the spacing unit
woul d have to enconpass the entire south half if it
was just one well. But yes.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And then a single
well drilled in the north half would earn Powderhorn
the entire north half; correct?

MR. MACHA: | believe that's the case.

MR. RANKIN: And it could be a one well

in north half as -- one-mle well in the north half as
well; correct?

MR. MACHA: | believe that's the case.
Yes.

MR. RANKIN: And so Marathon could
drill a one mle well in the north half. And that
woul d earn Powder horn the north half acreage. And
Powder horn could drill a one mle well in the south
hal f. And that would earn Powderhorn the south half
acreage. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agreed in concept.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Well, not just in

concept. |'m asking based on your understandi ng of
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t he | anguage, is there anything in the ternms that
woul d prevent that fromconmng to pass, if that -- if
those wells were drilled as | described?

MR. MACHA: As described? No. You
woul d be correct.

MR. RANKIN: Now, | want to go back to
t he acquisition of this VATEX interest. And at the

time you acquired the interest, "you" being

Powder horn, in Septenber 2025, you testified that you
knew that it was commtted to a JOA operated by
Mar at hon.  You just didn't know the extent of the
acreage; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: So having acquired that
acreage, you agree with ne that those interests are
subject to the terms of the JOA that Marathon
operates; correct?

MR. MACHA: | would agree with that.

MR. RANKIN: And that's that 1976
anci ent docunent that didn't contenplate vertical --
hori zontal wells; right?

MR. MACHA: That'd be correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And you told nme

that you did review that JOA; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes. In brief.
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MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, during the
time that you -- and | understand from your earlier
testinony that you worked with M. Maxwell to
negotiate with Marathon during the course of
negoti ations; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN:. During the course of those
negoti ations, did Powderhorn, either yourself or
M. Maxwell, ever disclose to Marathon that you had
acquired that VATEX interest in the north half of
section 27

MR. MACHA: Well, we told Conoco we
were subject to a termassignnent. | don't believe
that we explicitly let them know.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So despite
negotiating with them starting in Septenber 2025, you
never infornmed themthat you had acquired a term
assignnment that was commtted to their north half JOA;
right?

MR. MACHA: That's correct. We didn't
find it rel evant.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, | understand
you just recently reviewed the -- or obtained the JOA
But as part of its conditions or requirenents that --

you agree with ne that VATEX and now Powder horn are
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subject to -- I'"'mgoing to read this provision, which
I's on page -- oh, | got -- the page nunber got caught
off. Let nme see.

Must be page 13 of the JOA. It's
Provision 31-E. And I'"mgoing to read it out | oud.
"No assignnment transfer or change of ownership in any
formof any interest in any of the lands submtted to
t he performance of this agreenent shall be binding
upon operator until he has furnished a certified copy
t hereof and operator has agreed in witing to such
assignment.” Did | read that correctly?

MR. MACHA: Appears to be case.

MR. RANKIN: Yeah. And at any tine up
until this hearing, did Powderhorn or VATEX discl ose
to Marathon that they had -- that this transaction had
occurred?

MR. MACHA: No. | -- | nmean, do you
mnd if | read this real fast?

MR. RANKIN. Not at all. Take your
time. So just kind of backing up here -- and you can
tell me if I"'mwong. But | believe as of m ddle of
the sumer, the Price interest was still held by the
Prices. Is that fair to say?

MR. MACHA: That's fair.

MR. RANKIN: And sonetinme subsequent to
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that date, it was then conveyed to VATEX, maybe July,
August, or so of 2025. |Is that your understandi ng?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN:. And then shortly
t hereafter, between August and Septenber, it was then
conveyed to Powderhorn; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN. And to your know edge, at
any point during any of those transfers or
transacti ons between Price and Powderhorn, did any
party ever notify Marathon of the -- that those
transactions occurred?

MR. MACHA: Not that |'m aware of.

MR. RANKIN: Do you know if Marathon
has agreed in witing to any of those assignnents or
transfers?

MR. MACHA: Not that |'m aware of.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Now, one of the
things | understand from your rebuttal testinony is
t hat, you know, you make the point that Marathon did
not provide its one mle well proposal under its JOA
to Powderhorn until March 2nd; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN:. And it had provided the

ot her parties to the JOA that well proposal a few
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weeks earlier; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And do you know how
It came about that Marathon then sent the well
proposal on March 2nd to Powder horn?

MR. MACHA: M assunption was that they
were doing updated title.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. Are you aware that
the Friday before that Powderhorn's co-CEO notified
Mar at hon for the first tinme that they acquired an
interest in the north half of section 2 and that
caused themto |look up the interest?

MR. MACHA: |'m not aware of that
explicit conversation. | didn't feel that the
negoti ati ons over the seven nonths gave the inpression
that we didn't own an interest. But --

MR. RANKIN: So once they -- but you
agree with nme that once they | earned that Powderhorn
owned a commtted interest under their JOA, that they

i mmedi ately provided Powderhorn with a proposal for

the one mle well:; correct?
MR. MACHA: | would agree with that.
MR. RANKIN: Okay. I'mgoing to talk a

little bit about the relationship with Kaiser-Francis.

Qops, | did not nean to stop sharing. All right.

Page 152

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

Sorry. It's control bars in ny way. | got there.
Oh, I"'min the wong exhibit packet. All right.

So here on this page, this is again the
apples to apples view, which is your Exhibit A-11.
This working interest breakdown shows that Kaiser-
Francis is a working interest owner in the north half
of section 2; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: And | think if you were to
conpare your working interest representations of
Kai ser-Francis with what Marat hon shows, | think they
pretty much Iine up. Wuld you agree?

MR. MACHA: Yep.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And just in
general -- | think M. Holliday even said this during
his questioning of you -- it's about 140 net acres in
the north half of 2; right?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN. And now, you show t hem
being committed to your -- Powderhorn's JOA. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN: And that's based on the
fact that Kaiser-Francis signed a JOA proposa
proposed by Powder horn; correct?

VR. MACHA: Correct.
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MR. RANKI N: But Kai ser-Francis never
rescinded, nor did it revoke its commtnent to
Marathon's JOA. Didit?

MR. MACHA: Not that |'m aware of. |
don't think that's an industry norm

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But you agree that
their interest also remains commtted therefore to
Mar at hon's JOA. Agree?

MR. MACHA: It's kind of a weird
nuance, but | agree.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, you show - -
you still show Kai ser-Francis as being the owner of
that working interest in the north half of section 2.
Agr ee?

MR. MACHA: Agr ee.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But Kaiser-Francis
made an agreenment to trade its acreage reflected on
this chart, or at |east sone of it, to Powderhorn in
t he event that Powderhorn prevails in this contested
heari ng; correct?

MR. MACHA: There's sone ot her
stipulations. They -- they could retain their
I nterest, but agree.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Now, that was a

written agreenent; correct?
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MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN: And was that al so an
agreenent that was subject to a confidentiality
provi si on?

MR. MACHA: Yes. | believe so.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So it wasn't filed
of record; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN:  Now, you show that Kaiser-
Francis is still owning in the north half because that
deal is contingent on Powderhorn retaining or w nning
in this case; correct?

MR. MACHA: | still show themas this
I s because it's not filed of record.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So the deal's been
si gned. It's been executed; correct?

MR. MACHA: There's no assi gnnent
that's been filed or signed. That -- it's just a
| etter agreenent that's signed.

MR. RANKIN:. The letter agreenent.
Okay. But the terns of the letter agreenent in
general -- correct nme if I"'mwong -- is that Kaiser-
Francis would trade all of its acreage in the north
hal f of section 2 to Powderhorn in the event

Powder horn prevails in this contested hearing?
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MR. MACHA: | -- at -- at a certain
point, | amgoing to have to step in on the
confidentiality |language. |'m not sure how much

shoul d be discussing, but the basic terns, what you're
descri bing, are correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So if Powderhorn
prevails in this contested hearing and Kai ser-Franci s,
under the terns of the agreenent, transfers its
ownership to Powderhorn, then Kaiser-Francis will no
| onger own that interest in the north half of section
2. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And so its
comm tment to Powderhorn's JOA t hrough which it
commtted its acreage to participate in the proposed
devel opnent will no | onger be of substance because it
will no | onger have any acreage in the north half of
section 2. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN: So in that potenti al
hypot heti cal future, Powderhorn prevails in this case
and Powder horn becones operator of this acreage under
its JOA, then Kaiser-Francis wll never actually be,
you know, a partner in that JOA because it will --

woul d have traded out its acreage; correct?
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MR. MACHA: And like | say, there's
ot her options for Kaiser. They can retain their
i nterest and Super Hor net.
MR. RANKIN: Okay. Did you -- have you

had di scussions directly with Kaiser-Francis on this

ar eement ?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: Do you know if they want
to be -- do they want to retain their interests if

Powder horn is the operator?

MR. MACHA: That has been a big
conversation. Yes.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. Now, one thing |
wanted to clear up a little bit because it -- again,
it'"s nice to have a tineline, and | don't have a
timeline. But one thing that caught ny ear that I
wanted to ask you about was, | understand that you
made that -- Powderhorn nade a deal with Avant that
essentially requires Powderhorn to drill horizontal
well -- laydown horizontal wells across the northeast
quarter of section 3; right? And that agreenent, as |
understand it, was in the timeframe of the begi nning
of March; correct? O this year?

MR. MACHA: Begi nning of March. End of

February.
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MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. And around the sane
time, March 2nd or March 3rd, is when you received
Mar at hon' s wel |l proposal for its one mle proposal;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: But prior to that, in your
di scussions with Kaiser-Francis, did you | earn that
Mar at hon -- because Kaiser-Francis is a partner under
Mar at hon's JOA, did you |learn from Kai ser-Franci s at

any tinme prior to the deal with Avant that Marathon

was proposing to drill a one mle well under its JOA?
MR. MACHA: Yes. And those that -- we
| earned that while they were still contenplating our

carry, and that was being postured as being
potentially accepted. So we weren't sure of the

i ntent of any proposal to Kaiser without us. So we
didn't -- we thought that that m ght have been just a
strange negotiation tactic for themor for us. W
weren't sure.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So despite |earning
that fact from Kai ser-Francis, in advance of making
that deal with Avant, Powder horn neverthel ess nmade
t hat deal that | ocked in Powderhorn to a conmtnent to
drill only lay down wells across the northeast quarter

of section 3?7 Agree?
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MR. MACHA: Yes. Because we di d not

view the one mle as an actual viable plan for the

ar ea.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. | want to get into
the comruni cations with Marathon in nore detail. In
paragraph 14 of your |and statenent -- oops, I'm

sorry. Paragraph 27 of your |and statenment, you talk
about the negotiations, and you refer to your

comuni cations log. GCkay. And when | go to your
communi cations | og, which | believe is Exhibit A-15;
right? That's your conmunications |o0g?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. It indicates here
that on February 20th is when ConocoPhillips inforned
Powder horn that | was no |onger pursuing a deal;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: But you don't anywhere in

your testinony or your exhibit here explain why;

correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKI N:. Ckay. Now, obviously
based on your communications |og, there was -- there

wer e extensive di scussions going back nonths; correct?

VR. MACHA: Correct.
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MR. RANKIN: And | think you nade the
point that, you know, nost of the discuss -- nmany of
the discussions range fromcarry options to trade
deals. And so it was a variety of different options
t hat were put on the table; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. In fact, you know,
Powder horn and Marathon had nearly cone to an
agreenent in early February that had been negoti at ed
bet ween your team and Marathon's team correct?

MR. MACHA: W never told them we
approved the deal. W told themit was pendi ng
eval uati on.

MR. RANKIN: Understood. And so it was
always -- | think in fact in the emails you say there
were sonme caveats that we needed a final approval;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: And the caveats were about
whet her or not it was okay for a one-to-one trade;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Just in general, trade
eval uati ons.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So in the only -- |

mean, |'mjust going to say | could pull up the
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emails, but in the emails, the only caveat that you
provi ded the Marat hon was whet her or not your
managenent was going to agree to one-to-one trade. Do
you recall that?

MR. MACHA: That was on January 12t h,
and | said it's pending eval.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. So there were sone
di scussi ons about evaluation. OCkay. But there never
up until the time that -- on February 6th, prior to
February 6th, there was never a disclosure from
Powder horn t hat Powderhorn didn't actually own the
acreage it was proposing to trade. Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN:. And in fact, you know,
based on the discussions with Marathon, Powderhorn put
t oget her a proposed letter of intent that included the
acreage that was being discussed as a potential trade;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And based on the
emai | exchanges with Marathon, would you agree with ne
that it was a very -- it was a potentially very
attractive offer to Marathon because it proposed to
allow themto extend sone laterals in different

acreage; correct?
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MR. MACHA: And that is why we engaged
with the third party.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. Because you knew it
woul d be attractive to Marathon; right?

MR. MACHA: Potentially.

MR. RANKIN:. Potentially attractive;
right? Based on their public statenments about wanting
to extend | aterals when possible; correct?

MR. MACHA: It was just logic that
bolts on.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And so -- and you
agree with nme that Marathon expressed its interest in
this trade; correct?

MR. MACHA: Not we -- so we asked for
qui ck feedback, citing about a week, and I think it
t ook about two weeks for a response.

MR. RANKI N: Now, in the interim were
you getting notifications that Marathon was el evating
this, accelerating the evaluation, asking for asking a
rushed revi ew?

MR. MACHA: | don't recall rushed, but
there was | think emails back and forth including a
meeting on January 15th. | think the carries were
di scussed at the -- in those as well.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But you're aware
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t hat Marat hon was engaging its asset evaluation team

and managenent to evaluate this proposed trade; right?
MR. MACHA: VWhich we would -- we

were -- wanted themto be doing.

MR. RANKIN: Yeah. You expected that;

right?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. So after you sent
the letter of intent -- and | don't have the exact

date on it. But you agree with me that Marathon's

| andman told you that they were "scranmbling to
evaluate for | eadership" and that the Marathon asset
team was "pushing to nove this forward" and "worKking
to overcone managenent hurdles.” Do you agree? Do
you recall those general phrases in the emails back
and forth?

MR. MACHA: General phrases.

MR. RANKIN: Yeah. And that was based
on the representation of the acreage proposed for the
trade? Agree?

MR. MACHA: Agree.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. In fact, as part of
t hose di scussions, Marathon told you that they were
| ooking at their contracts for water, gas, and oil as

part of the potential agreenent w th Powderhorn?
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Agr ee?

MR. MACHA: Agreed.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And that way
Powder horn could nake -- could utilize the gas and oi

commtnents froma Marathon as part of Powderhorn's
devel opnment ? Agree?

MR. MACHA: Yes. |In which we responded
we woul d take a | ook.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, again, at no
time during any of these discussions did you disclose
to Marat hon that power didn't actually own or have
control or authority to nmake -- to offer this acreage
actually for a trade; correct?

MR. MACHA: So we did have verbal
agreenent with the third party to negotiate with this
tract, and Conoco is a -- Marathon is a conpetitor.
We were not going to disclose our deal conversations
with Conoco at that point in tine.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And prior to the
February 6th date on your date -- comruni cations | og,
prior to that day, Marathon affirmatively asked to
confirm whet her Powder horn actually owned the acreage.
Do you recall that comrunication; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: And as | understand your
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testinmony, that was in the mdst of trying to confirm
whet her you woul d be able to own that acreage;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. [|f you allowed ne to
open-end respond. So on February 2nd, |ike | say,
they sent the trade proposal and informality. W
| i kewi se scranmbled. We engaged the third party to
make sure that they were okay with the ternms in which
wer e proposed.

We prepared a letter of intent that
explicitly called out the | eases owned by the said
third party, provided to -- provided that to Conoco,
and we rushed the third party to get us an answer as
soon as possible. On that same day, February 6th,
they told us that they were going to have to pursue
anot her option, and then a phone call was given to the
COP | andman stating such.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. And that phone call
came from Powderhorn's co-CEO M. Jack Yates; correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. And that was on --
a followon to Ms. Klingler's repeated request to
confirm whet her or not Powderhorn actually owned that
acreage as part of the trade? Agree?

MR. MACHA: Correct. Il -- like | say,
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| recall several emails being sent that day. |'m
pretty sure | was out of the office at that point in
time because | renmenber seeing a |lot of them com ng
in, so | deferred to Jack at that point in tine.
That's why he nmade the phone call.

MR. RANKI N: Yeah. Okay. And now,
woul d you agree with ne that Powder horn didn't
initially disclose the fact that it didn't own that
acreage to Marathon at any tinme prior to that date
because it would've altered Marathon's willingness to
negoti ate on that trade? Wuld you agree?

MR. MACHA: | don't think that that's
the case. We viewed it as irrelevant. |It's acreage
that we intended on delivering, whether it was com ng
fromus or another party,

MR. RANKI N. But having not disclosed
that fact to Marathon, Marathon was unable in its
cal cul ations to discount the possibility of that deal
not comng to fruition because there's a third party
i nvol ved. Agree?

MR. MACHA: That's a fair statenent.

MR. RANKIN: Ckay. And because they
weren't able to discount that risk, it took them by
surprise when they |earned that in fact you Powder horn

didn't own that. Wuld you agree based on the
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response?
MR. MACHA: Based on the response.
MR. RANKI N:  Yeabh.

M. Hearing Oficer, I'll just take two mnutes to

make sure | may be conplete with ny question.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  That's fi ne.

Okay. Let's take two m nutes.

MR. RANKIN:  Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Of the record.

(OFf the record.)

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  All right. It

Is 3:57. We're back on the record.

And, M. Rankin, we're going to finish

with M. Macha before we take your w tness.

urge you to be brief because |I don't know how nmany
guestions M. Fordyce has. And | don't know how | ong
the redirect is going to take, so please go ahead.

MR. RANKIN:. Yeah. Appreciate it.

Thank you.
BY MR. RANKI N:
MR. RANKIN: M. Macha, just

of questions here. You testified -- we tal ked during
our di al ogue about the deal that Powderhorn nmade with

Kai ser-Francis. Do you recall that discussion with

me?

And so |

one |ine
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MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN:. And you nentioned that
there are sonme options for Kaiser-Francis based on
the -- based on that deal; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: And is one of those
options for Powderhorn to carry all or a portion of
Kai ser - Franci s?

MR. MACHA: | can't get into the
confidentiality at this point nuch.

MR. RANKIN:. Let nme ask you this then.
In ternms of the offers to Marathon, can you tell ne
whet her or not Marathons -- you nade an offer to carry
Mar at hon; correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. RANKIN:. Can you tell ne that the
offer that you made to Marathon did not match the
of fer that you made to Kaiser-Francis in terns of a
carry?

MR. MACHA: | can't disclose that at
this point.

MR. RANKIN:. So you can't tell nme one
way or the other whether Marathon -- the offer you
made to Marat hon matched -- at | east matched the offer

you made to to Kaiser-Francis?
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MR. MACHA: The offer to nmade the
Mar at hon was extrenely equitable is what | can say is
within a very small degree, plus or m nus, of Kaiser.

MR. RANKIN: Okay. But it didn't
match. Agree?

MR. MACHA: It becanme within extrenely
smal | margin of.

MR. RANKIN: Very good. No further
questions, M. Haron?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Fordyce?

MR. FORDYCE: Yeah. | have a -- just a
couple of qualifying or clarifying questions for
M. Macha. | have a question about Exhibit A-10 on
page 54. And actually, M. Rankin already touched on
this alittle bit. There was a question about PBX LLC
transferring their interest to Avant.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, FORDYCE:

MR. FORDYCE: M. Macha, | guess it's
your understandi ng that that was supposed to take
pl ace, but we're not a hundred percent sure whether
that's taken place or not, | guess?

MR. MACHA: Yes. So | think yes. That
is correct. So the PBX interest that is shown on

here, | think, in all likelihood, is just sone title
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cl eanup that needs to be done. PBX did explicitly
state that they intended 100 percent of their interest
in section 2 to be transferred to Avant.

|'ve showed it here in good faith out
of just transparency of -- of title and what we are
showing. That is -- that is the purpose of that.

MR. FORDYCE: So if you consider PBX
uncomm tted, why wouldn't you seek to pull them at
this time until that transfer has taken place?

MR. MACHA: W have a -- | have a very
good relationship with the people over there, and I'm
not worried about that title cleanup. And if there is
any necessity to either pull themor do a joinder via
JOA, they've explicitly stated that they would work
with us. So | don't -- | didn't see the -- the
pur pose.

MR. FORDYCE: Okay, thank you for that.
| have a question about your Exhibit A-9 on page 51.
So as a followup to, you know, basically who's being
pul | ed, you have all of these overriding royalty
I nterests and sone record -- a couple of record title
owners that you' re again, not seeking to pool?

MR. MACHA: Yes. Yeah. So for --

MR. FORDYCE: Because you anticipate

this com agreenent ratification is going to happen in
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the future?

MR. MACHA: Yes. So the record title
for the State of New Mexico, they require the -- the
actual signature. So we've had dial ogue wth VATEX
Faul coner 1've worked with in the past on --
especially on record title signatures. They're very
easy to deal wth.

And the general stance that we took and
| usually generally take with Perm an Resources and ny
| andman experience in the past is | do |ike to just
engage and get override royalty ratifications as we --
as we work through the process. |f there's any need
for additional pooling or if no one -- or soneone
doesn't sign, we would cone back and seek joinder via
pooling at that point.

MR. FORDYCE: So one of the parties
listed as a overriding royalty interest is VATEX,
whi ch we've already discussed sone today as being the
party that Powderhorn has a term assignnent from
correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. FORDYCE: | wonder if we could turn
to page 167 for just a nmonent? On this notice |ist,
|"mjust wondering if you've had dealings w th VATEX?

And you have a term assignnent and so on and so forth.
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" mwondering how it is that they didn't receive
notice due to an incorrect address?

MR. MACHA: Yeah. It seens odd. That
address fromny recollection is correct. If it wasn't
recei ved, that woul d' ve been of no consequence or at
| east of -- of sonething that | would not have been
aware of. But VATEX, they're -- they're a group that
we're close with on a personal |evel that we're --
we're not concerned wth.

MR. FORDYCE: Would you be able to
provi de an anended exhibit, | guess, or suppl enmental
exhibit, let's say, unit recapitulation for th
proposed unit, the unit that you're proposing, not any
ot her theoretical units, but the unit that
Powder horn's proposing with a -- with all the summary
of all the interest and again indicate that the
parties that Powderhorn is seeking to pool in this
case?

MR. MACHA: Yes. Yes. | can.

MR. FORDYCE: | have a question about
exhibit A-8 on page 49. So ny question is obviously

t he pooling case that we're discussing for the wolf

bone wells -- or excuse ne -- the Wl fcamp wells. And

this exhibit notes that -- and you nentioned worKki ng

wth Avant to work a deal to drill Bone Springs wells
Page 172

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

i n the planned unit depicted here in the south half of
the proposed unit; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. FORDYCE: During your
negotiations -- I'mcurious |ooking at this -- does
Powder horn or Avant or another party propose to dril
Bone Springs wells in the north half of this proposed
unit?

MR. MACHA: Originally, Conoco did send
proposals on a mle and a half basis to drill bone
spring in their superseding JOA. Those were
rescinded. We did send them counterproposals for the
Bone Springs formation as well to achi eve standing.

But both Conoco and Powder horn vi ewed
it as a secondary target that neither one of us wanted
to pursue currently. Avant is nore interested than --
Iin it than we are.

MR. FORDYCE: Ckay. | think maybe then
to summari ze, the parties that are involved, that
woul d be a discussion for future -- to sort out the
future, | guess?

MR. MACHA: Yes. So the parties to
sort out in the future for the north half, for that
nort heast quarter of the Bone Springs. And the north

hal f of the Bone Springs would again probably just be
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be Powder horn and Conoco.

MR. FORDYCE: Okay. Thank you for
that. | don't have any further questions for this
W t ness.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Hol |l iday?

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, HOLLI DAY:

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. |'d like to start
out -- we talked a | ot about drilling contractors,
Powder horn's experience, those sorts of things. And
t he question was raised, who inside of Powderhorn
woul d be responsible for drilling? Wuld that person
be Patrick Walter, CEO of Powder horn?

MR. MACHA: | think that he woul d be
pl ayi ng a heavy hand -- heavy hand. Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And what is his
background and qualification for planning, drilling
operations?

MR. MACHA: He worked nost recently
bef ore Powder horn as the devel opnment manager for Tap
Rock serving in a very simlar role.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So in that role, he
woul d' ve worked with drilling contractors to
accomplish the same sort of projects you're looking to

do with the Super Hornet; correct?
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MR. MACHA: | believe that is the case.
Yes.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. So I'mgoing to
try and share ny screen. Yeah. Danger. Oh, let's
see. Nope. That's nmy email. There we go. Now we're
good. Okay. W' re good.

So | want to go to paragraph 10 of your
self-affirmed statenent for the original rebuttal -- |
mean, excuse nme -- the original exhibit packet. |'m
sorry. Paragraph 12 -- hang on. | may be confusing
rebuttal s now.

Anyway, you -- there was a question
rai sed in your testinony where you said to the effect
your plan will fully develop a Wl fcanp fornmation;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Wuld you like to anend
that testinmony or clarify in any way?

MR. MACHA: Yes. That would be the
four initial Wolfcanp wells would be fully devel opi ng
the Wbl fcanp A bench within the Wl fcanp formation.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And, you know,
much has been nmade at the drilling contractors you
guys plan to use or may plan to use. As it stands

today, is it fair to say that the plan is to use the
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sanme drilling contractor that was used for the Bat
Bomb and WAr Pigeon units?

MR. MACHA: That is the plan. Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And that's a
common thing to do for teans of your size is to
outsource that with internal oversight; is that
correct?

MR. MACHA: Yes. Many private equities
do the sane thing.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Well, and publics as
well; right?

MR. MACHA: Correct. That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: | think we heard from
M. Dupree in his qualification testinony he
referenced some geo steering contractors; is that
correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And so if we go to
rebuttal Exhibit A-24 -- teans -- okay. So if we go
to Exhibit A-24, what is this exhibit?

MR. MACHA: These are just Conoco's.
AFEs for their one mle wells they did propose.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And what does this
exhibit tell us about Marathon's intended use of

contractors?
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MR. MACHA: The purpose is to show that
| arge publics, including Marathon, do as well use
contractors to drill wells.

MR. HOLLI DAY: So it's common private,
public conpanies -- everyone uses contractors;
correct?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Let's go back to
this notice issue and PBX and EGL and that sort of
di scussion. So I've -- | pulled up here -- this is
exhibit -- | believe it's D2 -- D1. And this is the
list of noticed parties. You see here, EG., Finw ng,
and sone other parties. Do you have -- would you like
to summari ze who those parties are and why that's
rel evant ?

MR. MACHA: Yes. So when M. Rankin
did make note of the PBX i nterest maybe -- may or may
not be receiving notice, prior to our applications
being filed, the of record owners of the PBX interest
were WWesley Perry, EG, S.E S., Lerw ck, Finw ng.
And | think that is it. Al of those conpanies
assigned into PBX before assigning into Avant. So
that is where the reference to PBX cones from

MR. HOLLI DAY: And EGL and PBX are

rel ated conpanies. |Is that fair to say?
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MR. MACHA: Yes. | don't know if they
still are, but EG. used to just be the operator
operating entity for PBX

MR. HOLLI DAY: And Avant was noticed in
this case; correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: And is it your
under st andi ng that Marathon woul d have standing to
raise a notice argunent on behalf of a third party?

MR. MACHA: That is not ny
under st andi ng.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And has have any
of these parties raised a notice argunent other than
Mar at hon?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Real quick,
because | know you're a | andman and not a petrol eum
engi neer, if we |look at Marathon's Rebuttal Exhibit 6
we -- is that it? Yeah, 6. OCkay. |If we |ook down in
the bottomleft corner with the green chart, what does
t hat di scuss?

MR. MACHA: The bottomleft corner, the
max stress orient -- orientation.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Right. So Marathon

rai sed the i ssue of maxi mum stress orientation in this
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case; correct?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: (Okay. But |and doesn't
have anything to do with that; right?

MR. MACHA: Correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Ckay. M. Rankin asked
about a neeting that occurred or your qualifications
and whet her you infornmed Conoco or Marathon of your
qualifications. Oher than that plan neeting, did
Conoco ever ask specifically for your qualifications
and experience in regard to drilling these wells?

MR. MACHA: No.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Real brief, we're
al rost done. If we |ook at A-10, Exhibit A-10 and A-
11, those are the ownership exhibits. Get there as
fast as | can. GCkay. So a -- well, let's just focus
on A-11. This is the apples to apples. Wat were you
trying to represent with this chart?

MR. MACHA: This was just, | nean,
trying to represent the northern portion of the Super
Hornet Unit where Conoco/ Marathon own all of their
interest as well as ne trying to nake very, very w de
note that | don't view that the northeast quarter of
section 3 is a viable option of being stranded.

So | did want to show that regardl ess,
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If you wanted to view it as a north -- north half
devel opnent or a south half devel opnent, that
Powder horn did have the majority interest commtted.

MR. HOLLIDAY: In either case?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So the last thing
| want to tal k about, this JOA that Kaiser-Francis
signed wth Powderhorn. |In your experience as a
| andman New Mexico, is it common for parties to sign
what is commonly referred to as superseding JOAs?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And why would a party
sign a supersedi ng JOA?

MR. MACHA: Because they're view ng
anot her devel opnment as a preferred option.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And do you know why

Kai ser-Francis signed the JOA with Powderhorn in this

case?

MR. MACHA: Because they were worried
that -- nunber one, that their interest would be --
woul d be stranded because they own on the -- both the

north side and the south side of the Super Hornet
Unit. They also wanted to see an actual full, full
devel opnent of the Wbl fcanp A formati on across the

full sections.
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MR. HOLLIDAY: So fair to --

MR. MACHA: As a l|longer |ateral
devel opnent.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Apologies. It's fair to
say they preferred your plan?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Does -- when
you' re acquiring an interest, whether you have
know edge of an existing JOA in the chain of title,
woul d that know edge or not know edge of a JOA have
any ability on a party's ability to sign a superseding
JOA?

MR. MACHA: Sorry. Can you repeat?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yeah. No that was
really -- | tripped on that. Wuld a party's
know edge of a prior JOA in the chain of title prevent
them from signing a supersedi ng JOA?

MR. MACHA: No. It would not.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. And so if
Powder horn acquires Kai ser outright and Kai ser signed
this superseding JOA, you would take that interest
subject to all the agreenents that Powderhorn -- |
mean, excuse nme -- that Kaiser-Francis has signed;
right?

MR. MACHA: That's correct.
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Just one quick
thing. This trade -- just to clarify for the record,
you were authorized by the owner of -- by the third-
party owner of acreage subject to the trade to Conoco
t hat we've discussed in length. You were authorized
to present that to them correct?

MR. MACHA: That is correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And when that deal fel
t hrough, you immedi ately notified Marathon; correct?

MR. MACHA: You, as in Powderhorn,
because Jack made that call, but yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Right. And so since we
di scussed sone hypotheticals earlier in your cross-
exam nation, as a hypothetical, you offer the deal on
February 2nd. Let's imagine a world in which Conoco
accepts on the 4th. Wuld that trade have then been
consummt ed?

MR. MACHA: No. |If -- sorry. o
ahead. Sorry. Can you say --

MR. HOLLI DAY: Right. So before the
third party pool ed the deal, you would have had the
ability in that span of, |ike, three, four days to do
the trade with Conoco if they had accepted; correct?

MR. MACHA: So we still wanted to run

an evaluation. Like, regardless of the third party,
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we -- we wanted to run an independent eval uation.
Conoco gave us sone caveats that it -- we weren't sure
if it was approved on their end -- their end either,
SO --

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. But if you had
conme to agreenent, just froma title perspective?

MR. MACHA: Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: That trade could have
occurred?

MR. MACHA: Absol utely.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So |ast question
about that. Wiy did you search out this acreage?

Rem nd nme why you search out this acreage?

MR. MACHA: So before -- so well, it
cane to us in Decenmber -- on the December 19th, but in
t he preceding six nonths, we hadn't -- received

m ni mal engagenent on any real conversations from
Conoco. So we had to find sonething else. W' ve
of fered them acreage that we owned under them al ready.
It didn't seemlike that was of -- of
Interest, so we had to find sonething else. And this
ki nd of canme up. And we treated it as delicately as
we -- we thought we could. None of that was intended
to offend anyone. We've worked nmany deals |ike this

I n the past.
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|"ve worked on -- on these -- between
Concho and Perm an Resources and Col gate, deals just
i ke that, where we've kind of acted as a pass through
entity, and |'ve never had an issue. And |'ve never
been claimed to bad faith but -- for it. So --

MR. HOLLI DAY: And you don't feel I|ike
the -- your efforts in this regard were in bad faith;
correct?

MR. MACHA: No. And in fact, like |
say, if you |l ook at the conmmunication | og between the
five parties that -- that Powderhorn has done deal s
wth or reached voluntary joinder with, we have
communi cated with Conoco the -- the nost.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. | believe that's
all nmy questions.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Rankin, |
trust not hing new canme up during that?

MR. RANKI N:  Not hi ng new.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Good. All right

M. Fordyce, did you have anything
el se?

MR. FORDYCE: | have nothing further,
M . Hearing Exam ner.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.

This witness nmay be excused.
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Thank you M. Macha.

Okay. Now we're going to take a break
fromthe regular course of events, and we're going to
have M. Rankin provide testinony fromhis petrol eum
engi neer.

MR. RANKI N: Thank you,

M. Hearing Oficer.

Dr. Umekwe, are you avail able on the

pl at f or nf?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, | am

MR. RANKIN. Thank you very nmuch. et
me know i f you have problens hearing ne, and we'll | et

you know the sane. Since you've already been accepted
as an expert, I'mgoing to skip through the
prelimnaries and just junp in to sonme of the neat.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, RANKI N:

MR. RANKIN:. Dr. Umekwe, have you
conducted an engineering study of the |lands at issue
in this contested case?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, | have.

MR. RANKIN: And have you prepared
witten testinony and exhibits that are marked as
Exhibit C and Exhibit C-1 as part of your direct

testinony?
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DR. UNMEKWE:
MR. RANKI N:
rebuttal exhibits that were

case and marked as Exhibits

the screen so you can see it so you know what

t al ki ng about because |
t he nunmbering. But

This one here?

DR.  UMEKWE:
MR. RANKI N:
this one here, did
exhi bits?
DR.  UMEKWE:
MR. RANKI N:
prepared by you or conpil ed
DR.  UMEKWE:
MR. RANKI N:

changes to the testinony or
correct?
DR.  UMEKVE:
MR. RANKI N:

testinony that you filed in

statenent as Exhibit C as your

DR. UVEKWE:
MR.  RANKI N:

don'

t hat woul d be Exhi bit

Yes, | have.

Did you al so prepare
filed and served in this
5 and 7? And | can share
' m

t think you probably knew

Nunber 5.

Yes.

And t hen Exhi bit Nunber 7,

you prepare those as rebuttal

Yes.

Were these exhibits
under your supervision?
Yes.

And no corrections or

exhibits that were fil ed;

Correct.

And you adopt the
your self-affirnmed

sworn testinony today?
That's correct.

Dr. Umekwe, |'m going to
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ask you about your testinony addressing vertical

degradation. You've reviewed Powderhorn's
appl i cation?

DR. UMVEKWE: Yes, | have.

MR. RANKIN: And you've revi
| and, geol ogy, and engi neering statenents t
filed in this case?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, | have.

MR. RANKIN: What's your und

ewed their

hat were

er st andi ng

of what Powderhorn proposes for the devel opnent plan

based on that revi ew?

DR. UMEKWE: Powder horn proposes to

drill the Wolfcanp XY Sand first and potent

lally cone

back and drill the Wolfcanp B or Wolfcanp C at a | ater

dat e.
MR. RANKIN. And just -- | Kk

not a geol ogi st, but just for purposes of

now you're

clarification, is there a difference in nonenclature

between the parties, what they' re calling Wl fcanmp B

and Wbl fcamp C?
DR. UMEKWE: Yes. That's ny

under standing. And ny col |l eague, the geol ogi st who

speak to it -- M. Dupree will speak to it
t onorr ow. But what Powderhorn refers to as

B, we typically refer to it as Wl fcam C

| at er

Wl f canp

Page 187

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

MR. RANKI N:

revi ew and your discussion just now that they proposed
a first drill, the upper Wl fcanp Sand and then cone
back later to drill the lower target, what is the

problemwi th that devel opnment approach based on your

revi ew and anal ysi s?

DR. UVEKWE:

approach is going to lead to parent/child -- top-down

parent/chil d degradati on.

maybe | ook -- talk -- talk

you have before ne, you know, to kind of describe --

describe that in npore deta

VR, RANKI N:

parent/child effect, you' re tal king about a vertical

parent/child effect between the upper target and the

| ower target; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.
MR. RANKIN:. Because in their
testi nony, Powderhorn is referring to a simlar -- a

different kind of parent/child effect, a horizontal

of fset parent/child effect;
DR. UMEKWE:
MR. RANKI N:
tal ki ng about the vertical

DR. UVMEKWE:

OCkay. Now, based on your

Powder horn's devel opnent

And at sone point, |'l]I

t hrough the exhibit that

l.
And when you tal k about

correct?

That's correct.

Okay. But you're here
I npacts; correct?

That's correct.
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MR. RANKIN: And you prepared an
anal ysis to show how you know this is going to be an
i npact on the vertical side; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. Yes, | did.

MR. RANKIN: Okay, so |'ve got your
slide, Rebuttal Exhibit Nunmber 5, up. |If you would

just review for the exam ner what this shows. | know
explain -- | think you'd prepared the slide wth your
geol ogi st, and he'll address the geol ogy aspects of

this. And you're going to address the engi neering
aspects; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. So go ahead and
gi ve us an overview what the slide shows, and then
gi ve us your assessnent on the engineering side.

DR. UMEKWE: Ckay. So the slide before
shows a fewthings. [|'Il kind of walk us through it.
So the top left portion of the slide shows a | ocator
map, which shows the -- the relative |ocations of the
Super Hornet project on the top right -- on the top
|l eft with the A shown -- shown on it and the
ConocoPhillips pilot project that tested this specific
phenonenon that we'll be describing today.

And | believe the Keg Shell project's

shown on the -- the southeast of the -- of that
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particul ar image as shown there. Then bel ow t hat

I mge, we show the -- the differences between the
Super Hornet project, the vertical separation of that
proj ect, as proposed by Powderhorn versus the verti cal
separation of the -- the pilot project executed within
ConocoPhi |l I'i ps or WMarthon.

And what you see there is you see is --
Is a very -- separation difference of sonewhere
around, you know, a hundred plus feet, so 610 or so
feet for the Super Hornet project versus 720 plus feet
for the -- the ConocoPhillips project.

Then on the very center of the slide,
you see Powderhorn's exhibit and it's gun barrel
showing its Wl fcanp XY wells shown in red and its
Wbl fcamp B wells or Wol fcanp C, you know, shown in
green. And those are the wells that it plans to
potentially conme back to to drill after drilling the
aAfirst or the XYs first.

On the right, we show the gun barrel
for the ConocoPhillips project that tested this
specific phenonmenon. So on the left side, you have
the -- the Potato Baby project. And on the right, you
have the Keg Shell project.

And the Potato Baby project is

essentially set up, you know, just like the -- the
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sequential devel opnent that is contenplated by -- by
Powder horn, whereas the Keg Shell side of the project
shows the co-devel oped project that is proposed in
ConocoPhi |l li ps's Canpana project.

And bel ow that, we show the difference
I n performance of the Wbl fcanp C or Wolfcanp B in both
scenarios. So the blue |ine shows us the perfornmance
of the Wolfcanp C in a co-devel opnment scenari o,
whereas the orange |line shows us the -- the
performance of the -- the Wil fcanp C or Wbl fcanp B in
a sequential devel opnent scenari o.

So the sequential devel opnent scenario
maps clearly with the plan that Powderhorn has put
forward for the Super Hornet project, whereas the --
the blue |ine shows the plan mapped out in the Canpana
proj ect.

MR. RANKIN: Sorry. Explain briefly,
Dr. Unekwe, the engineering principles that govern
your analysis and apply in this instance as between
ConocoPhillips pilot test project and then the Super
Hor net proposal by Powder horn.

DR. UMEKWE: So in -- in general, we're
dealing with a few factors, the vertical separation of
the two zones that have been devel oped as well as the

pressure differential between those two zones. |In
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general, pressure increases with depth. So the

Wl fcamp Cwll be nore pressurized than the Wl fcanmp
A or the X -- the Wl fcanp XY Sand as Powder horn
proposes here.

And because of that, when you go to
stinulate the -- the Wolfcanp C, the fluids that
you're injecting into the Wolfcanp C will
preferentially nove towards | ower pressured areas. So
It's a natural phenonenon. That phenonenon is
exacerbated by the depletion that woul d' ve occurred in
the Aif you drewthat first or in the XY if you drew
that first.

So that -- so the key issues here would
be the vertical separation as well as the pressure
differential. In -- in our -- in this specific case,
you see that we observe parent/child -- top-down
parent/child degradation in the Potato Baby Keg Shell
project, which is over 720 feet separat ed.

So in the case of the Super Hornet
project that has a shorter vertical separation, you
woul d expect, you know, even nuch hi gher degradati on.
And one thing to note also is we observed this
degradation for the Potato Baby Keg Shell project
while inplenmenting several steps to kind of mtigate

t hat .
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So for a less practiced operator as
well as for a shorter vertical separation, you would
expect worse perfornmance for the Wolfcanp B or C as --
as in this case.

MR. RANKIN: And just to be clear, the
results that you identified here in your analysis
suggest that the sane sort of vertical degradation
wll -- you expect to be observed in the Super Hornet;
correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN. And even perhaps
exacer bat ed because the vertical separation in the
Super Hornet is less than what was experienced in your
pilot test project; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN. Ckay. And | know we
didn't have that Marathon's geol ogist testify in
advance of your testinmony, but based on your review,
Is -- do you believe that the pilot test project is
anal ogous to the project proposed by Powder horn for
Its Super Hornet?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes.

MR. RANKIN:. And just for
clarification, the data that you used for purposes of

maki ng this analysis was all publicly avail abl e dat a;
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Is that correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: And does that track with
the internal data that ConocoPhillips has as well?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: Now in your opinion,

Dr. Unekwe, is it always appropriate to co-develop a
Wol f canpformati on as Marathon is proposing here?

DR. UMEKWE: Not in every instance, but
in this specific instance, giving the vertical
separation at play, it's -- it's the preferred option
for devel opnent here.

MR. RANKIN:. Ckay. Now, would you
agree Dr. Umekwe, that sonetines other factors |ike
drilling deadlines, prior plans, agreenments with
different partners all could influence whether an
operator is able to carry out its preferred
devel opment plan for a given project?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct. | agree
to that.

MR. RANKI N: Now, in review ng Exhibit
C-4, which is Powderhorn's engi neer exhibit here
showi ng a chart, explain why, in particular
referencing the green box, in your opinion, it would

be prudent to co-develop the Wolfcanp in this acreage
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to avoid the potential top-down parent/child
degradation that you' re seeing in the offsite pil ot
test?

DR. UMEKWE: Yeah. So further on,
based on this slide fromwhat | understand, shows that
the Wolfcanp Cis a highly gassy target, so high GOR
like it stated right there. And they also nentioned
that the economcs for this wll be marginal and made
nore marginal if parent/child effects are taken into
consi derati on.

And | -- | agree with that statenent.
And | -- | think with top-down degradation, you would
be experiencing exactly that and even worse. And that
t op-down degradation is the -- the plan that has been
put forward by Powderhorn in its Super Hornet
devel opnent.

So essentially, the Wbl fcanp B or
Wol f canp C project, when Powderhorn gets around to
doing it, would be degraded, and the econom cs for
t hat would be so rmuch, you know, that Powder horn nmay
or may not, you know, choose to -- to continue with
t hat .

MR. RANKIN. So the point here is that
the concern -- the margi nal econom cs potentially with

the Wolfcanp B is exactly why Marathon is proposing to
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co-devel op these benches partly; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: In your opinion, in this
acreage, with the vertical offsets that Powderhorn is
proposing will failure to co-devel op the Wl fcanp Sand
and the upper bench with the Wolfcanp B or Cin the
| ower bench result in waste?

DR. UVEKWE: Yes, it wll.

MR. RANKIN: In wll -- in your
opinion, will failure to co-devel op Marathon -- co-
devel op those benches and Marathon's acreage inpair
Mar at hon's correlative rights?

DR. UVEKWE: Yes, it wll.

MR. RANKIN:. And is that -- and that --
Is that because you believe that it will not access as
many reserves if you were to separately sequentially
devel op the | ower Wl fcanp bench?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. It -- it wll not
access the resources that exist in the Wolfcanp C
bench adequately.

MR. RANKIN: The next topic that I
think you set out for rebuttal is Powderhorn's clains
for capital efficiency for longer laterals. And I'l]l
turn back to your Rebuttal Exhibit Nunber 7. And

you' ve included in here an i mage of Powderhorn's
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Exhibit C6, titled Short Laterals, Capital, and
Operational Inefficiencies.

VWhat is the purpose of this Powderhorn
slide, as you understand it, from Powderhorn's
engineer. MWhat is it intended to say?

DR. UMEKWE: Well, Powderhorn's slide
i ntends to show a conpari son between Conoco's cost AFE
versus their cost AFE and also to show that the one
and a half mle well has a conparatively better use of
capital, essentially better capital efficiency.

And based on the nunbers shown on the
slide, you see that Powderhorn's per foot cost would
be sonmewhere around, say, 20 percent |ower than, you
know, Conoco's AFE cost would -- would show. And what
| state here is a claimsuch as that could be made by
nore practiced operators, teans with | ongstanding
rel ati onshi ps worki ng together as well as we --
trusted and tested contractors, but not with a team
that hasn't drill the well.

And what | show here as well is just,
again, it's comon know edge that we get better by
doing what we do. So in -- in general, that's --
that's acceptable. That's accepted. So for
Powderhorn to claimthat it gets this |evel of

efficiencies on its first well appears to ne to be --
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to be a stretch.

VWhat | cite there is a study conducted
within the Col orado School of M nes that shows
drilling teanms that -- that inprove on -- on the
ability to drill wells nmuch faster and at | ower cost,
you know, year on year. And those inprovenents could
be, you know, sonmewhere around 11 percent or, you
know, depending on -- on the -- the situation.

So the 20 percent capital efficiency

t hat Powder horn speaks to, it is -- for nme, it's --
it's not justified by the -- the experience or |ack
t hereof developing within -- within the basin.

MR. RANKIN: Now, in addition to the
drilling efficiencies, Dr. Urekwe, are there
addi tional efficiencies that can be realized through
operations?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, there are. Again,
efficiencies don't just end with capital and also the
execution of the well or the drilling of the well, but
also with the operation of that well.

W t hout experience operating wells
within the basin, it -- it's hard to -- to believe
t hat Powderhorn's plan and its operational
capabilities would allowit to -- to manage, what |

woul d say, kind of precious reservoir energy, which is
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kind of the main driver for title development -- to

manage that energy as well as to keep the wells in

| ine when -- when needed, that would -- that woul d

require well intervention program and processes that
allow for those wells to -- to essentially have the
uptinme that you premise in your -- in your economcs

in the first place.
So an operator without the -- that --
t hat experience and those processes m ght not capture

those benefits and as such m ght have wells that don't

maxi m ze the production of -- of resources, you know,
wthin -- within the zones that they are drill ed.
MR. RANKIN: |I'mgoing to turn back to

Powder horn exhibits, in particular C2. And this is
a -- an overview or -- of a conparison between the
conpeti ng devel opnment plans and Powder horn's
assessnent of the advantages of their proposed
approach over Marathon's. Have you had a chance to
review this chart on Exhibit C2 of Powderhorn's?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, | have.

MR. RANKIN:. WIIl you give us an
overvi ew of your response to each of the advantages
t hat Powder horn represents and your response to those?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. So Powderhorn puts

forward the five or so criteria, you know, under which
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It judges the Super Hornet devel opnent versus the
Canpana devel opnment or the one mle devel opment. And
the first point there tal ks about capital efficiency.

And like | nmentioned earlier, the --
the capital efficiencies don't cone naturally. Those
are efficiencies that are -- that are gained through
| ongst andi ng wor ki ng rel ati onshi ps across teans and as
wel | as across working with tested and trusted
operators or contractors.

So in the case of, you know, the 20
percent efficiencies that -- that Powderhorn speaks
of, there's no evidence that those efficiencies --
efficiencies will be -- will be gained. Talking about
correlative rights and the potential of stranding,
the -- the zone right at the very toe of the Canpana
project, like was discussed earlier, Powderhorn has
the option of drilling north/south wells, which sonme
of the exhibits shown -- shown nonents ago show t hat,

you know, the devel opnent around this area includes

both standup and -- and | aydown wel | s.

So in that case, the -- the argunent
on -- on correlative rights and strandi ng acreage
doesn't -- | am-- | don't see evidence for that as
well. On the parent/child effects, like |I described
earlier, top-down sequential developnent will lead to
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a |l oss of resources within the Wl fcanp B or Wl fcanp
C bench. And Powderhorn's statenent here kind of
attests to that.

It says standard tim ng causes

interference. Wile that may have been put forward

maybe in the -- in the -- in terms of -- in bench
i nterference or degradation, that -- that holds true
still for top-down degradation.

Powder horn al so speaks to production
efficiencies on stating that, you know, the -- the 960
acres spacing unit would produce or -- produce nore,
you know, per l|ateral than -- than the -- the one
mle -- one mle well. Like |I nentioned earlier,
production efficiency depends on a lot of -- a |lot of
factors, your ability to nmanage reservabl e energy
effectively, your ability to keep the wells online,
your ability to have essentially a programthat allows
you to manage the wells as effectively as -- as you
would -- you would -- you -- you had in your plan
essentially.

Tal ki ng about devel opnent coordi nati on
and the need for a single operator to develop the --
the acreage, | think | agree with that. It's -- it's
fair to think that the nore experienced operator be --

be let or allowed to develop its own, you know, | ease.
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And if there is one operator that needs to do -- say
develop the entire acreage, it's also fair to think
that that -- that should be the nore -- the nore
experienced the operator.

MR. RANKIN: On the production
efficiency issue, is it your position that you -- |
mean, you're not chall engi ng Powder horn's i ndividual
personnel's experience. You're challenging -- you're
saying that they don't have the team experience proven
to drill a well at these efficiencies; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: And nor have they worked
with the proposed operator as a team correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN. And because they haven't
drilled a well yet, they haven't executed on an AFE
that this team has proposed; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN. And because of that, they
haven't denonstrated that they can come within the --
or neet the estimted economcs for a project;
correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN:. Nor have they denonstrated

t hat they can neet the anticipated performance netrics
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for any well that they proposed to drill; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: I n your opinion,
Dr. Umekwe, what is the best way for the Division to
prevent waste and protect correlative rights in this
contested case?

DR. UMEKWE: It is to allow MRO or
ConocoPhillips to develop its -- its acreage in a
manner that we know woul d maxim ze recovery of
resources, you know, within that acreage.

MR. RANKIN:. |Is Marathon asking for the
Di vision to deny Powderhorn's application?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: At this tine,
M. Hearing Oficer, |I have no further questions of
Dr. Umekwe and make hi m avail able for cross-
exam nati on.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday?

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. HOLLI DAY:

MR. HOLLI DAY: Good afternoon, Doctor.
" mnot going to try to say your nanme on the record.

DR. UMEKWE: (Good afternoon.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Good afternoon. But |

do have a few questions. |If we |ook at your self-
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affirmed statenent in paragraph 5, it's your testinony
t hat Marat hon's planned co-devel opnment of all four

VWl fcamp wells and the XY and Wolfcanp B -- it's
necessary to avoid parent/child degradation. Am|
sunmari zi ng that correctly?

DR. UMEKWE: Could you restate that
pl ease?

MR. HOLLI DAY: In paragraph 5, you
testified that Marathon's planned co-devel opnent of
all four Wl fcamp wells, the A and the B or C,
what ever we're calling that -- co-devel opnment of those
formations at the sane tinme -- you claimthat's
necessary to avoid parent/child degradation; is that
correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That is necessary to avoid
t op-down parent child degradation? Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So do you believe
that if you were to drill nultiple wells at different
times in the sane | anding, would that result in
parent/child interference?

DR. UMEKWE: In the sane |anding, the
set back, the setback rules would apply. So if you
develop -- if you drill wells within a |andi ng and
subsequent wells are drilled within that sanme |anding,

it'll depend on the -- the offsets of those wells.
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And there is
of fset production to this; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: In what direction?

MR. HOLLI DAY: To the north?

DR. UMEKWE: |'Il have to take a | ook
at the -- the |layout again to be able to nake -- to
answer the affirmative or not.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So do you believe

there -- you know, if you drill all four Wl fcanp
well -- Awells at the sanme tine, would that result in
| ess parent/child degradation than drilling two wells
and then drilling two nore separately?

DR. UMEKWE: So each drilling event, |

t hi nk you have to explain it so | understand. Are you
tal ki ng about drilling events in the shallow and
deeper zones or drilling events in the sane | andi ng?
O could you clarify that?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yeah. So just talking
strictly to the Wolfcanp A for this question, if you
were to drill all four Wbl fcanmp A wells at the sane
time, would that result in |ess parent/child
degradation than drilling two wells in the Wil fcam A
and then com ng back later and drilling two nore
VWl fcamp A wel |l s?

DR. UMEKWE: And |like | nentioned
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earlier, that -- all those who -- those -- the
scenari o descri bed woul d depend on the offset
di st ances.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Let's assune in a
hypot hetical that there is offsetting production.
Woul d that result in greater degradation for the two
wells and two wells versus four wells at the sane
time?

DR. UMEKWE: Offset production but also
of fset di st ance.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. We can nove on
fromthat. So in paragraph 10 and 13 of your self-
affirmed statenent, this is where we start talking
about the inexperience for Powderhorn. And you've
mentioned that. |Is it fair to say their inexperience
is one of the primary objections you have to their
devel opnment plan, their inability to execute, as
you' ve described it?

DR. UMEKWE: | spoke to the slide that
Powder horn provided that spoke to the capital
efficiencies that they would gain. So that's --
that's kind of the reference |I'm making, that those
capital efficiencies would be gained based on the
experience of the -- the person or the entity that is

executing that.
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MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And so we've
tal ked about today how the Powderhorn team prior to
form ng Powderhorn, which is a new entity -- each of
t hose individual team nenbers do have experience. You
know, so if we | ook at your resune, which is
I ncredi ble -- but we can see that you've held a nunber
of positions. |Is that fair to say?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Right. So the first one
represented here -- let's just start with that one.
Baker Hughes, North Dakota, you were an engi neer doi ng
drilling and logging; is that correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So fair to say you
gained quite a bit of know edge in petrol eum
engi neering during that tinme; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And then you noved on to
ConocoPhi I I'i ps, Alaska, and -- from 2013 to 2015. Do
| have that correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Was the ConocoPhilli ps
team that you mgrated to in Alaska different than the
team you were working on with Baker Hughes in North

Dakot a?
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DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Do you feel that your
know edge gained in North Dakota transferred and made
you qualified for the position at ConocoPhillips in
Al aska?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. | believe that ny
know edge was a contributing factor to working in that
capacity as a -- as a devel opnent petrol eum engi neer.
Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So then you went
to work for the State of Al aska from 2016 to 2019.

And again, that's another new team Fair to say?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: But the prior experience
you gai ned from Baker Hughes and ConocoPhillips, it
woul d' ve transferred and qualified you for the
position at the State of Alaska. |Is that fair to say?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So |ast one, then
you noved onto ConocoPhillips in 2019 to 2022. It
| ooks I'i ke that was still State of Alaska. New team
agai n?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct. Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And then |ast --

okay. This is actually the last one. So then you
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noved to the Mdland team Different drilling team at
the Mdland Basin than you had in Al aska?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Did you feel |ike you
were unqualified to participate in the drilling
activities for the Mdland Basin team because you were
a new team nmenber and you guys had not worked together
before?

DR.  UMEKWE: No.

MR. HOLLIDAY: No. So that know edge
was transferrable in your case; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So then it's at |east
possi bl e that the know edge for the Powderhorn team
menmbers that they bring from prior experience would be
transfer -- transferable in their case too. Is that
fair to say?

DR. UMEKWE: That's fair to say. |[I'Il
add one nore thing to that. M -- just |ike was
stated earlier for the Powderhorn team | don't
di spute the experience that they have. The point |
made was in relation to the team working together and
t he know edge and the institutional capabilities that
are built working together as a teamas well as

wor ki ng together across -- with contractors; right --
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testing and trusting the contractors that they work
Wit h,

So that is what nmy statenent was neant
to address, not the individual experiences of the --
t he menbers of the Powderhorn team

MR. HOLLIDAY: Sure. That's fine. W
can just leave it there. So we've -- you've heard
testi nony previously about the Bat Bonb and War Pi geon

units. Are you famliar with those units?

DR. UMEKWE: | would let my | andman
address specifics on that. But yeah. |'mkind of
generally famliar with it. But I'Il let -- "Il let

any nore detail ed conversations around that to be
handl ed by the person nost appropriate to do so.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Sure. Well, what |
wanted to talk to you about in relation to those two
units were whether you were aware when Marat hon or
Conoco entered into an agreenent with Admi ral Perm an,
which is approxinmately one m |l e east of the Super
Hornet wells, were you aware that they had not yet
drilled a well in New Mexico?

DR. UMEKWE: |'m not aware of that.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And then so you
probably woul dn't be, but I'Il ask anyway. Are you

aware that in those units only the Wil fcanp A is being
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devel oped? And it's being devel oped i ndependently and
separately fromthe Wl fcanp B?

DR. UMEKWE: |'m not aware of that.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So then you
woul dn't be aware if Conoco or Marathon would' ve
stipulated that you had to co-develop the A and the B
when it executed those deals with Adm ral Perm an?
From an engi neeri ng perspective?

DR. UMEKWE: Yeah. No. I'mnot -- not
aware of that. But in -- in general, like | stated
earlier, a few factors drive, you know, whether you
choose to do so or not. And in this case, the
vertical separation and the sequence that the -- that
Powder horn has put forward, you know, based on our
experience, you know, would | ead to degradation of the
the Wbl fcanp B or Wol fcanmp C

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So then |I'm
guessing it's fair to say you were not involved in the
deci sion to approve those devel opnment agreenments?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. Well, that
renoves a bunch of questions. Okay. Did you provide
any sort of reservoir simulation or nodeling or data
of any kind show ng the magnitude of the degradation

you claimw ||l occur? Was that the 19 percent delta,
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or am | thinking of sonething el se?

DR. UMEKWE: That's the 19 percent data
based on public -- public data on those projects.
Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. That's what |

thought. So if we | ook at the anal og projects that

you used -- and | want to say the name on the record
because | think it's funny -- the Potato Baby and the
Keg Shell. But you referred these as the pilot test
project. It looks to ne like these are 19 mles to
the southeast. |Is that fair?

DR. UMEKWE: That's fair.

MR. HOLLIDAY: In your experience as a
petrol eum engi neer, would that be standard practice to
use an analog that's -- let's call it 19 m|es away
when there are other analog wells closer to the
proj ect under consideration?

DR. UMEKWE: The effort to pick an
anal og depends on devel opnents that you consider truly
anal ogous to the one that you plan to develop. In
this case, the -- the distance is not as nuch a factor
as the vertical separation and OCP st acki ng.

My geol ogi st coll eague is going to
speak better to this. Those are the -- the drivers

for the anal ogy between the Canpana, the Super Hornet
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devel opnent, and -- and the the pilot that we speak

of .

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. But there are

numer ous pads closer to this proposed Super

hor net

that have either A and B or A or B devel opnent; is

that correct?

DR. UVEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And i f we | ook at the

devel opnent plan for the Super Hornet and conpare it

to the Keg Shell or the top-down, is it fair

to say

t he devel opnment plan for the Super Hornet is simlar

to the -- let's just call it Keg Shell devel
DR. UMEKWE: The devel opnent

opment ?

for the

Super hornet, which is a sequential Wl fcanp B

devel opnent is nore anal ogous to the Potato
devel opnent. Yes. Like |I nentioned earlier
vertical separations are -- are different.

Baby
., the

So in the

Super Hornet case, you have a smaller vertical

separation and -- conpared to the Potato Baby project.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Right. Yeah.

what | was going to ask. So if we consider

That's
all eight

wells, so the eventual A and B wells that Powder horn

has |isted, versus the 14 or 15 in the full

Wl f canp and the Keg Shell, that's a pretty

st ack

mat eri al

difference in nunber of wells, at least in density;
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correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Wiy -- or would you say
this difference -- would it be due to changes in the
rock?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. Probably so.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So changes in the
rock -- in your opinion, where the rock changes, it

changes how it reacts to spacing and parent/child and
all those sorts of things; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. HOLLI DAY: I n your opinion, does
the timng between conpletions matter for the
parent/child degradati on we've been tal king about?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. Timng is a factor.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So if we go then back to
t he Potato Baby, how |l ong did Marathon or Conoco or
t he operator in that case -- how long did they wait
bet ween conpleting the wells and the A and the C?

DR. UMEKWE: The timng difference in
t hat i nstance was about three years.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. |If we |look at the
differences, | believe it's in your exhibit slide,
maybe it's 5 that shows the 19 percent delta, you're

aware of that graph? Is it fair to say that the
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parent/child -- I"'mtrying to think of the best way to
ask this because |I'm not an engi neer.

The parent/child degradation, it
doesn't show overall that there's | ower production.
It's just that sonme wells produced | ess and nmaybe sonme
wel | s produced nore. |Is that a fair assessnent?

DR. UMEKWE: \What that graph shows is
that the typical well or the average well drilled
sequentially simlar to the Super Hornet proposal
woul d underperformthe average well drilled in the
Wbl fcamp C or Wolfcanp B in a co-devel oped scenari o.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. | mght -- | may
cone back to that. But for now, here's a genera
guestion. Wuld you consider, in your opinion, that
depletion -- is it a function of well density and
time? |s that a fair statenment?

DR. UMEKWE: It's a function of
vertical separation tinme as well as -- yeah -- the
confinement status of well. Yes.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. |If we go to your
self-affirmed statenent, paragraph 12, you acknow edge
that one and a half mle laterals are -- as in your
words, "generally recognized as" a favorable -- or
excuse ne -- as "favorable conpared to one mle

wells." Do you still stand by that testinmony?
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DR. UMEKWE: | think it's conmon
know edge t hat nopst conpanies would prefer, you know,
| onger wells where possible.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. And | just want
to -- just so I'mclear on the nature of your
obj ection, so despite that recognition, you still
recommend Marathon's one mle plan.

And in doing so, you call Powderhorn's
pl ans, in your words, riskier. |s your basis for that
recomrendati on and concern -- is that primrily
Powder horn's | ack of operating history as a tean? And
It's also the parent/child concerns? Do | have that
ri ght?

DR. UMEKWE: Yeah. Those two factors
cone into play.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And we've tal ked a
little bit about drilling contractors. And you state
t hat "Powderhorn has not identified a drilling
contractor.” What is your basis for that statenent?

DR. UMEKWE: | think statenments made
just nonments ago also attest to that.

MR. HOLLI DAY: But you haven't had
conversations or spoken with anyone prior to this
heari ng about Powderhorn's drilling contractors;

correct?
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DR.  UMEKVWE:
anyone in Powderhorn's shop.

MR. HOLLI DAY:

Personal ly? No. Not

Soif we were to | ook at

sonme of the ConocoPhillips activity in the, you know,

near area -- so use the Magellan Pad. That's a pretty

good anal og. You can see the Nabors Industries is

doi ng sone work out there.

ConocoPhillips, or are they
DR. UMEKWE:
contractors to drill -- dri

what you're asking.
MR. HOLLI DAY:

Are they owned by
a contractor?
ConocoPhi |l I'i ps uses

| wells. Yes. If that's

Does Mar at hon generally

prefer to drill -- and this may be nore of a | and
guestion, but I'll ask you anyway. Does Marat hon
generally prefer to drill in units where they can

achi eve | onger laterals and
DR. UMEKVWE:
t he question?

MR. HOLLI DAY:

a hi gher working interest?

Woul d you pl ease restate

Yeah. Does WMar at hon

typically prefer to drill in units where they can

achi eve | onger | aterals and
wor ki ng i nterest?

DR.  UVMEKWE:
case based on ny under st andi

MR. HOLLI DAY:

where they have a higher

Yes. That's generally the

ng.
Ckay. And were you
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aware that for Conoco's 4 earnings call, 4 2025, the
gui dance provided was that 90 percent of its 2026
programis going to be two mle laterals or greater?

| s that accurate?

DR. UMEKWE: | think that statenment was
made descri bing the program not setting a goal as to
future devel opnent or something to that effect. Yeah.
So that's ny understanding of that statenent.

MR. HOLLI DAY: And you're aware of the
statenments from Conoco's executives that going from

one to two-mle laterals, it generally inproves the

cost of what's called -- they refer to as cost of
supply by 25 percent. |Is that accurate?
DR. UMEKWE: | recall seeing that

statement. Yes.
MR. HOLLIDAY: Okay. So if we |ook --
I f we conpare the perforated | ateral |ength between

Conoco's plan and Powderhorn's plan, how much nore

perforated |ateral length will Powderhorn's plan have
t han Conoco's? |'msorry. The initial plan. |'m
sorry. Excuse ne. | left out a very inportant word.

How much nore perforated lateral |ength

will Conoco's -- the initial plan that Conoco

advanced -- how nuch nore -- you know what? Let's

just skip that question. |It's a double negative.
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It's too hard.

Okay. If we go back to Marathon's
plan -- so in a world in which the north half is
devel oped under the JOA by Marathon, under that plan,
the northeast quarter has no clear devel opnent path;
correct? We have -- | nean, we have a hypothetical.
There could be a standup U-turn well by Powder horn,
but there's no clear path to devel opi ng that nort heast
quarter; is that correct?

DR. UMEKWE: |'m not aware of the --
could you put up the exhibit you talk about so I see
what -- what you're saying?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Yeah, | believe it's
your exhibit -- your Rebuttal Exhibits 1 through 2,
where they showed -- it's the no acre left behind
slide. Qutside of your hypothetical one mle -- or
excuse me -- two-mle U-turn, if Powderhorn's
devel opment plan is denied today or this week or at
the end of this hearing, the northeast quarter of
section 3, there's no clear devel opnent path for that

acreage; is that correct?

DR. UMEKWE: | cannot speak to that at
this tine.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So we talked
about -- let nme just -- yeah. W tal ked about the
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JOA the 76 JOA, are you famliar with that docunent?

DR. UMEKWE: No. |'m not.

MR. HOLLIDAY: You're not. So then you
woul dn't be aware that under that docunment, these
wells that were recently proposed under the JOA by
Mar at hon -- that there would be a contractua
obligation to spud those wells, the Canpana wells, on
or before April 13th. Are you aware of that?

DR.  UMEKWE: No.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. So then for the
Canpana wells, there's been no pad built; is that
correct?

DR. UMEKWE: |'m not aware of that.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Are you aware of any
pi pelines or mdstreamthat's been run to the proposed
| ocati on?

MR. RANKI N: M. Hearing Oficer, I
just say this is a little outside of the scope of both
his direct and rebuttal testinony. He didn't testify
onto pipelines or anything along those I|ines.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Marat hon made an issue
of Powder horn's takeaway capacity. And we're just
proving -- the line of questioning is intended to

prove that Marathon has not taken these concrete steps
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to drill the well on or before April 13th as required
under the JOA

MR. RANKIN: Just not within this
W t ness's scope.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday, |
think the issue is that M. Rankin is saying this is
not the right witness to ask that question to.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. That's fair. W
can ask it to a different w tness.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So | just have a
guestion since we're tal king about things. It's 5:06
now. How long -- and |'mnot rushing you. But how
| ong do you think your cross-exam nation w ||
conti nue?

MR. HOLLI DAY: | have about 10 nore
guesti ons.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  About 10 nore
guestions. GCkay. Please.

MR. HOLLIDAY: So it'll last as |ong as
it takes me to ask clear questions, | guess.

BY MR HOLLI DAY:
MR. HOLLI DAY: Are you aware as to

whet her or not these Canpana wells -- have they been
allocated a rig -- adrilling rig in Conoco's 2026
progr anf?
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MR. RANKIN: Again, this is not within
the scope of his direct or rebuttal. So |I would just
point that this is not the witness who rai sed any of
t hese issues.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday?

MR. HOLLI DAY: Well, then | would ask
who is the appropriate witness | should ask these
because Conoco proposed under a JOA under which they
have obligations to drill? And we can't tell whether
there's any concrete evidence taken to actually
physi cal |y execute whet her noney's been all ocat ed.

| mean, they're the ones that sent --
i ncluded in the exhibits their well proposal s under
the JOA. So | think that nakes all of this relevant.
And |'m happy to ask that to whonever is the
appropriate witness, but | think soneone at Conoco
needs to answer those questions.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. The
objection is that it's outside the scope of this
witness's testinony. So | think your best option
woul d be to ask every witness. And you m ght not get
an objection at sone point, or I mght have to
overrule the objection at sonme point. But we'll get
you an answer at some point during this hearing.

MR. HOLLI DAY: O maybe |'Il catch Adam
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sl eepi ng.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: There we go.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Doubt it. Okay.

Well, so you don't have any information
about capital budget, not the right witness. You
m ght have know edge of this as an engi neer.

BY MR, HOLLI DAY:

MR. HOLLI DAY: We can say that those
wel I s have not been spud today; right?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday, it
just has to be within the scope of his direct and his
rebuttal. So if it's outside that, then you're going
to get the sane objection. | mght as well tell you
now. So | would stick to what this witness test --
the subject matter this witness testified to.

MR. HOLLI DAY: Okay. All right. Fine.
Okay. Then I'll just -- I'll have three nore
guesti ons.

BY MR HOLLI DAY:

MR. HOLLIDAY: |If the Division were to
deny Powderhorn's application, then you would not be
aware of any Division order or nmechanismthat would
require Marathon to drill within any specific
timeframe? |s that accurate?

DR. UMEKWE: Yeah. | would not be
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awar e.

be this year, it could be two years, it could be five

years,

di scretion under the JOA; is that correct?

guestion. And again, M. Urekwe is a petroleum
engineer. He's not famliar with the JOA. It's not
directed to the correct witness. It's not within the

scope of his testinony, direct or rebuttal.

reserve that question for Ms. Klingler. | think she's

famliar with it. That is all of nmy questions.

BY MR

at Rebuttal Exhibit 5. And | believe you' ve stated

t hat |

wells that were drilled in the Wolfcanp A.  And then

three years |later approximately, there were these

ot her

Ckay.
MR. HOLLIDAY: So fair to say, it could

and then that would be within Marat hon's

MR. RANKIN: |'mgoing to object to the

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: M. Holliday?
MR. HOLLI DAY: That's fair. "1

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Thank you.
M. Fordyce?
MR. FORDYCE: Yes.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
FORDYCE:
MR. FORDYCE: M. Unekwe, |'m |l ooking

n the Potato Baby spacing unit, there are parent

project wells drilled in that same Potato Baby
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unit in the C and then co-devel opnent in the

nei ghboring spacing unit, the Keg Shell. That
timeframe, you think, is about three years between
these drilling and conpletion events?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. About three years
between the drilling event in the Wl fcanp A conpared
to the drilling event in the Wolfcanp C and the Potato
Baby unit, so the left side of the inmage of the gun
barrell.

MR. FORDYCE: Is it possible or are you
aware of any other conpletion design changes or
production factors, or could there be sone discrepancy
because of inprovenents in takeaway that woul d cause
sone performance di screpancies or changes?

DR. UMEKWE: Are you asking if there
are factors beyond --

MR. FORDYCE: Are you aware over that
course of three years, could there have been possibly
changes to, you know, conpletion designs or
efficiencies, inmprovenents in, you know, production
performance due to sone inprovenents or efficiencies
at surface?

WAs there -- is there a possibility
there was i nprovenents in takeaway capacity? Are

the -- are any of those things that | nentioned
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potential factors to affect this data?

DR. UMEKWE: Not -- not to ny
know edge. That those -- those factors you nentioned
woul d be drivers for this -- this observation.

MR. FORDYCE: Are these two spacing

units -- do they have devel opnents around them or are
they, like, on an island? And the reason | ask is |
can't tell, you know, from your |ocator nmap what

devel opnent is around these two spacing units. And
again, the reason | ask is -- let nme rephrase ny
guesti on.

Is it possible that there is sone
activity around these spacing units that it could have
potentially caused sone depletion over the course of
three years?

DR. UMEKWE: There are activities
around these spacing units. The -- based on the --
the pilot study, the design, and the execution and the
anal ysis, those are not the drivers for the
performance difference that we see here.

MR. FORDYCE: Okay. |If we could just
turn our attention maybe to Rebuttal Exhibit 6, on the
|l eft, we're | ooking at maxi rum and/ or how you
i nterpret the graphic m ninmum or horizontal stress

direction. Sonme mght call up preferred frack pl ane.
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Just based on this, if it was nmy well |
was planning, it looks like | would be planning to
drill east and west. On this slide, you're show ng
basically wells that were drilled before 2017 and
wells that were drilled from 2017 onward, obviously
showi ng sonme devel opnents east and west, sone
devel opnents north and sout h.

Is it possible that operators are
drilling one direction versus another just because of
where their acreage interest is so they forma spacing
unit and drill, whether it's east and west or north
and south. |s that possible?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. That is possible.

MR. FORDYCE: But there's no data that
has been conpiled or presented show ng a conpari son of
production or performance fromwells either drilled
east/west or north/south. That conparison on
orientation is -- has not been made. There's no data
for that; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. FORDYCE: | have one | ast question
on Rebuttal Exhibit 7. It |looks like there's a quote
that you've taken from a paper maybe witten in 2015
about rig efficiency of 11 percent that's been

realized over the course of working with arig for a
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year; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. FORDYCE: So Marat hon and
ConocoPhillips are |arge organi zations that track a
| ot of nmetrics. Can Marathon or Conoco present sone
actual nmetrics and data showi ng how a field
| nprovenent team or working with a specific rig or
contractor resulted in an 11 percent increase fromthe
date they picked up a rig and until a year later?

DR. UMEKWE: Could you pl ease restate
t hat question?

MR. FORDYCE: Well, ny question is, |
know that -- |I'msure that Marathon and Conoco track a
| ot of netrics. You've supplied a quote from a paper.
Does -- is there netrics that can be presented,
because |'m sure that there -- that nmetrics are being
tracked, to back this statenent up?

DR. UMEKWE: | don't have those nunbers
to -- from ConocoPhillips operations to be able to --
to provide. But -- but |I agree with the statenent
that netrics are generally being -- being tracked.

MR. FORDYCE: All right. Thank you,

M. Umekwe. | have no further questions.
THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: | have two. |

hope that they're not redundant with yours,
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M. Fordyce.

M. Unekwe, can you provide specific
data show ng that Powderhorn's one and a half nile
| aterals will result in less total resource recovery
than Marathon's one-mle |aterals?

DR. UVEKWE: M. Exam ner, you -- you
are asking for data to show that Powderhorn's one and
a half mle -- or what performance Powderhorn's one
and a half mle mght -- mght provide conpared to
Conoco's one m | e?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  1'1l ask it
agai n because |I'mnot sure | understood you. So |'llI
say it again. Can you provide specific data show ng
t hat Powderhorn's one and a half mle laterals wll
result in less total resource recovery than Marathon
one-nmle |ateral s?

DR. UVMEKWE: Yeah. M. Exam ner, |
have not conpiled that, but that is -- that is data
that -- that could be -- that could be conpil ed.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. But it's
not sonething you have | ooked at?

DR. UMEKWE: No. [|'ve not -- |'ve not
conpiled that information.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Okay. And |

have a second question. You tal ked about parent/child
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degradation. Is it a certainty, or can it be
m tigated through sinultaneous conpl etion techni ques?

DR. UMEKWE: M. Exam ner, the -- the
pl an that ConocoPhillips has put forward or MRO put
forward that devel ops these two benches sinultaneously
Is a plan that mtigates that parent/child degradation
that we -- we're speaking of.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: So I'mtrying to
understand your answer. Are you saying that it's your
plan that mtigates or Powderhorn could mtigate?

DR. UMEKWE: |'m saying that the co-
devel opnent of both benches mtigates parent/child
degradation that would occur in a -- in a sequenti al
devel opment of the Wolfcanp C. So if -- if the
Wl fcamp Ais viewed first and [ater on the Wl fcanp
C, there will be that degradati on. But if drew
together, you mtigate that.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. So then
are saying that the parent/child degradation in --
attributed to Powderhorn's plan is a certainty?

DR. UMEKWE: Based on the anal ysis that
we' ve done and the project that | cited, that would
occur if the Wolfcanp C is devel oped sequentially.

Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. That
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answers ny two questions. Thank you.

M. Rankin, where are we now?

MR. RANKIN:. | just have three foll ow
up on redirect.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Go ri ght ahead.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RANKI N

MR. RANKI N: Dr. Umekwe, you were asked
about the public statenents nade by ConocoPhilli ps
during its fourth quarterly report saying that they
would -- to the effect that they intended to try to do
90 percent or nore of their wells two mles or
greater. Do you recall that testinony?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes. | do.

MR. RANKIN: Now that means there's
going to be 10 percent of the wells that are |l ess than
two mles; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN:. And these could be anong
t hose 10 percent; correct?

DR. UMEKWE: That's correct.

MR. RANKIN: M. Holliday asked you
sone questions about whether or not they're -- you see
a potential for a clear devel opnent plan that would

I ncl ude the northeast quarter of section 3. Did you
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review the rebuttal exhibits that Ms. Klingler

prepared in preparation for today?

DR. UMEKWE: Yes, | did.

MR. RANKIN: And |'m going to show you
Rebuttal Exhibit Number 1 and Rebuttal Exhibit Nunber
3 that she prepared. Do you agree that what's
represented on those two rebuttal exhibits is a

potential clear devel opnment plan that would include

t he Northeast quarter of section 37

DR. UVEKWE: Yes, | do.

MR. RANKIN: So here's Rebuttal Exhibit
1 and then Rebuttal Exhibit 3. In both instances

woul d show a cl ear devel opnent plan for the Northeast

guarter of section 3. Agree?

DR. UMEKWE: | agree.

MR. RANKIN:. And then the hearing
exam ner asked you a question about whether you had
any data that allowed you to conpare -- prove whet her
Powder horn's one half mles will result in |ess

recovery than Marathon's proposed one-mle wells. Do

you recall that question?
DR. UMEKWE: Yes. | recall

guesti on.

MR. RANKIN: And the problemis that

Powder horn doesn't have a track record and hasn't

t hat
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DR. UMEKWE: Yes.

MR. RANKIN: No further questions,
M . Exam ner.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: May this witness
be excused?

MR. RANKIN:. Pl ease?

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Thank you,
M. Urekwe.

DR. UMEKWE: Thank you.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Ckay. Let's

tal k about how we're going to proceed tonorrow. |

know t hat sonetinmes wi tnesses conme from ot her places

and they need to get honme. |s there anyone who has a

flight tonorrow that | need to be aware of?

UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER: [Unintelligible

response. |

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  It's hard to
hear you. Onh, got it. Okay. | heard that part.
Yes.

UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER: [Unintelligible
response. |

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  You're riding
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together in a car? Oh, you're driving. Okay. Back
to Mdland or sonepl ace?

UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER: [Unintelligible
response. |

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  Toni ght? OCkay.
Well, you can appear tonorrow virtually by all neans.
Okay. Yeah. Thanks for com ng.

But is there anyone who has a flight or
sonet hing that | should be aware of?

MS. KLINGLER: We noved ours to
t onmorrow afternoon --

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. Perfect.
Yeah. We should be done by then, but it's not really
under my control as you can see.

Sol'dlike to start early tonorrow so
that we -- hopefully, we'll be done before I have a
doctor's appointnent at one o'clock. It's a doctor's
appointnment |1've waited for for nonths, and you know
how it is with doctors in New Mexico. They're not
easy to get to.

So we can either finish before that, or
we can take a long lunch break and come back after
that. It's really up to you guys how you want to
proceed? But what is the earliest you want to start

t onor r ow?
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MR. RANKIN: | can go early.

MR. HOLLIDAY: Early as you would |ike.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. 8:307
That works for you?

MR. RANKI N:  Yes.

MR. HOLLI DAY: That works for -- that's
fine.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ms. Vance? All
right.

MS. VANCE: Yes.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER:  8:30. And for
the wi tnesses?

MS. VANCE: Yes, sir.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ckay. All
right. Geat.

You'll be calling your next two. So
which -- will you be starting with this gentleman
sitting there?

MR. HOLLIDAY: We'll be starting with
M. Wbod, the geol ogist and then the -- Tippen, the
reservoir -- with the caveat that | don't know |
don't expect those to go as | ong because we did today.

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: Ri ght. Okay.
Yeah. You never know. All right.

So if we start at 8:30 -- so

Page 235

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



© 00 N oo o b~ wWw N

O T N R R N T
o A~ W N P O © 00 N O 0o M W N +—, O

Proceeding - March 10, 2026

M. Aragon, you're available? | think you're virtual,
but you're avail able tonorrow at 8:307?

THE REPORTER: Yes, sir. | am

THE HEARI NG EXAM NER: You are? (Okay,
wonder f ul .

Okay. Then we will start at 8:30, and
we' Il know by noon if we need to take a long lunch or
If we are done, obviously, before that. And then we
can tal k about post-hearing subm ssions and
transcripts and all that good stuff then.

s there anything el se we need to deal
wth today? Everyone says no. Then we're off the
record. Have a good evening. Thank you.

(Wher eupon, at 5:26 p.m, the

proceedi ng was concl uded.)
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CERTI FI CATE

|, GERALD ARAGON, the officer before whom
t he foregoi ng proceedi ngs were taken, do hereby
certify that any witness(es) in the foregoing
proceedi ngs, prior to testifying, were duly sworn;
that the proceedi ngs were recorded by ne and
thereafter reduced to typewiting by a qualified
transcriptionist; that said digital audio recording of
said proceedings are a true and accurate record to the
best of nmy know edge, skills, and ability; that | am
neither counsel for, related to, nor enployed by any
of the parties to the action in which this was taken;
and, further, that | amnot a relative or enpl oyee of
any counsel or attorney enployed by the parties
hereto, nor financially or otherwise interested in the

outcone of this action.

AN e
‘_,r"-?-h-._,.-.._h f - -

GERALD ARAGON

Notary Public in and for the

State of New Mexico
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CERTI FI CATE OF TRANSCRI BER

|, JENNI FER SM TH, do hereby

certify that

this transcript was prepared fromthe digital audio

recordi ng of the foregoing proceeding,

t hat said

transcript is a true and accurate record of the

proceedi ngs to the best of nmy know edge, skills, and

ability; that | am neither counsel for,

related to,

nor enpl oyed by any of the parties to the action in

which this was taken; and, further, that | am not a

relative or enployee of any counsel or

attorney

enpl oyed by the parties hereto, nor financially or

otherwise interested in the outcome of

gty

JENNI FER SM TH

this action.
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205:16
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